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Report of the Directors 

For the financial year ended 31st December 2021 
 

The Directors present their annual report and financial statements for the financial year ended                         
31st December 2021. 
 

Significant Events during the Financial Year 

Updated supplements to the Prospectus for Pareto Total and Pareto Nordic Omega (the “Sub-Funds”) 
dated 9th March 2021 were issued to reflect the EU Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation 
(“SFDR”) updates.  
 

A further update of the Pareto Total supplement dated 29th March 2021 was issued for the re-launch of 
Institutional Class A Share Class and for the reduction of redemption and exchange notice period from 
the 80th to the 15th day prior to the relevant Dealing Day for all classes. 
 

A further update to the supplement of the Sub-Funds dated 15th December 2021 was issued to reflect 
the Taxonomy disclosure updates. 
 

There were no other significant events during the financial year, which require disclosures in the 
financial statements. 
 

Principal Activity 

As at 31st December 2021, there are two Sub-Funds in the Company. The investment objective of 
Pareto Total is to achieve robust long-term returns through flexible and active investments, whilst 
curbing downside volatility. The investment objective of Pareto Nordic Omega is to obtain capital 
appreciation, by offering investors the opportunity to participate in an alternative investment product 
focusing on the Nordic region, regardless of the equity markets’ directions. 
  

Audit Committee 

The Directors have decided not to form an Audit Committee, as per Section 167 of the Companies Act 
2014 (the “Act”), as there are currently three non-executive Directors of which two are independent 
Directors of the Company. 
 

Results 

The financial position and results for the financial year are set out on pages 16 and 18 respectively. 
 

Review of the Development of the Business and Future Developments 

Please see the Alternative Investment Fund Manager’s Reports on pages 9 to 12 for further details on 
the performance of the Sub-Funds. The Directors intend to continue to operate the Company in its 
current form. General information of the Company is disclosed in Note 1. 
 

Dividends and Retention 

No dividends were declared or paid during the financial year (2020: NOKNil). 
 

Events since the Statement of Financial Position Date 

On 24th February 2022, Russia invaded Ukraine. The invasion has been met with strong economic 
sanctions against Russia from the United States and a number of other countries. The situation has led 
to very high oil and gas prices and turmoil in the capital markets. The political and economic 
consequences of the invasion and sanctions adopted are considered uncertain. Whereas Russia and 
Ukraine constitute a very limited part of the global economy, the economic sanctions may have a 
noticeable impact on the global economic development. Although the total assets in the Sub-Funds 
may fluctuate more than normal, the invasion in the short term will not have an impact on continued 
operations or lead to significant write-downs in 2022. 
 

There were no other events subsequent to the financial year end, which require disclosures in the 
financial statements. 
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Report of the Directors 

For the financial year ended 31st December 2021 
(Continued) 

 

Directors 

The Directors of the Company who served during the financial year ended 31st December 2021 are 
listed on page 3. 

 

Directors’ and Secretary’s Interests 

None of the Directors or the Secretary (including family interests) had any interest in the Redeemable 
Participating Shares of the Company, as defined by the Act, at the beginning, during or end of the 
financial year. 

 

Transactions Involving Directors 

Directors’ interests in transactions with the Company during the financial year ended 31st December 
2021 are disclosed in Note 14. 
 

Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

The Sub-Funds seek to provide investors with capital appreciation by investing in collective 
investment schemes, equities, debt securities and derivatives, primarily in the Nordic countries. 
Investment in the Sub-Funds carries with it a degree of risk including but not limited to the risks 
referred to in Note 5 of these financial statements. Information about the financial risk management 
objectives and policies of the Sub-Funds are also disclosed in Note 5.  
 

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Report of the Directors and the financial statements in 
accordance with the Act and regulations. The Act requires the Directors to prepare financial statements 
giving a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the profit or loss of the Company 
for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.  
 
In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable 
accounting standards, identify those standards, and note the effect and the reasons for any material 
departure from those standards; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 
the Company will continue in business. 

 
The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial 
statements. The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps or causes to be kept 
adequate accounting records which correctly explain and record the transactions of the Company, 
enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company to be 
determined with reasonable accuracy, enable to ensure that the financial statements and Report of the 
Directors comply with the Act and with the AIF Rulebook and enable the financial statements to be 
audited. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
 



Report of the Directors 
For the financial year ended 31 It

 

December 2021 
(Continued) 

Directors' Responsibilities Statement (continued) 
The Directors have appointed the Depositary to hold the assets in safekeeping for the Shareholders. 

The Directors have appointed the Administrator in order to ensure that the above requirements are 

complied with. The books and accounting records are maintained at the address of the Administrator at 

Block S, Harcourt Centre, Harcourt Road, Dublin 2. 

Connected Parties 
The Board of Directors is satisfied that all transactions with connected parties have been carried out at 

an arm's length basis and in the best interest of Shareholders during the financial year as required by 

Chapter 2, Part 1, Section (viii) of the AIF Rulebook as issued by the Central Bank of Ireland. The 

Board of Directors is satisfied that there are arrangements in place, to ensure that the obligations as 

noted above are applied to all transactions with comnected parties. 

Corporate Governance Code 
The Board of Directors voluntarily complies with the Corporate Governance Code (the "Code") for 

Irish Domiciled Collective Investment Schemes as published by Irish Funds ("IF"). 

In respect of the composition of the Board of Directors, the Code states the following: 

It is important that there is a good balance of skills and expertise on the Board, and it is strongly 

recommended that at least one Director be an employee, partner or director of the promoter or 

Alternative Investment Fund Manager ("AIFM"). 

None of the Directors are an employee, partner or director of the promoter or AIFM. However, the 

Board believes that they possess all the necessary skills and experience to effectively govern the 

Company. In addition, the Board note that appointing someone who is not an employee, partner or 

director of the AIFM provides a level of independence that would not be present if an employee, 
partner or director of the AIFM was to assume the role. 

Otherwise, the Board of Directors has assessed the measures included in the IF Code as being 
consistent with its corporate governance practices and procedures for the financial year. 

Statement on Relevant Audit Information 
® so far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the statutory 
Auditors are unaware; 
• the Directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information. 

Auditors 
The Auditors Grant Thornton will continue in office in accordance with Section 383 (2) of the Act. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

Date: 

7 

27 April 2022

heidijo
Sticky Note
Accepted set by heidijo

heidijo
Sticky Note
Unmarked set by heidijo
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Statement of Depositary’s Responsibilities 
For the financial year ended 31st December 2021 

 
Sections 1385 to 1415 of the Companies Act 2014, as amended Companies (Accounting) Act 2017 
(the “Act”), requires the Depositary to take reasonable care so as to ensure that Pareto plc (the 
“Company”) is managed in accordance with the Act and the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association. In particular, the Depositary must:  
 

� satisfy itself on a continuing basis on reasonable grounds and report that the Company has been 
managed in all material respects in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and 
borrowing powers of the Company by the Memorandum and Articles of Association and the Act; 

 
� take into its custody or under its control, all the assets of the Company and hold them in 

safekeeping for the Shareholders in accordance with the Act and the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association; 

 
� satisfy itself that the valuation of the shares of the Company and that the sale, issue, repurchase, 

redemption and cancellation of shares of the Company are being carried out in accordance with the 
Act and the Memorandum and Articles of Association. 

 

To enable the Depositary to fulfill its responsibilities under the Act and the Memorandum and 
Articles of Association, the Depositary is required to keep proper records. 

 

Depositary’s Report  

For the financial year ended 31st December 2021 
 

SMT Trustees (Ireland) Limited, as Depositary for Pareto plc (the “Company”), has enquired into 
the conduct of the Company during the financial year. In our opinion the Company has been 
managed in all material respects: 

 
� in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the 

Company by the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the Central Bank of 
Ireland under the powers granted to the Central Bank of Ireland by Sections 1385 to 1415 of the 
Companies Act 2014, as amended Companies (Accounting) Act 2017 (“the Act”); and 

 
� otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the Memorandum and Articles of Association and 

Sections 1385 to 1415 of the Act. 
 

 
____________                                                  _____________ 
 

 
      Date: 27th April 2022 

 
  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 511353A0-FC1B-4DB7-83ED-B4ACC31FFC10
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Alternative Investment Fund Manager’s Report 

Pareto Total 

For the financial year ended 31st December 2021 
 
The year ended with a significant increase in value, 22.7% net return for the full year (B-class, NOK). 
Equities we owned contributed most strongly to the return in 2021. We had only marginally positive 
contributions from our short equity and long fixed income positions. The results during the year were 
little affected by currency. 
 
The portfolio gave a positive return in 10 of the year’s 12 months. As many as twenty of the 
companies in the portfolio in 2021 gave a positive return, while only three companies had a negative 
return. Four companies rose over 60 percent during the year. Only six companies had a return below 
20 percent. 
 

Looking back 

It is often a humiliating exercise to read last year’s annual summary a year later. At the end of last 
year, we wrote the following: "Several of our companies have a normalised annual cash generation of 

five to ten percent of today’s market value. With a relatively high degree of certainty, this cash flow 

will increase in the years to come. It is a good starting point to achieve good return." 
 
The good news is that this is in line with developments in 2021. The vast majority of our investments 
have increased their cash flow this year, and the prospects for further increases in the years to come 
have strengthened. The bad news is that with this backdrop and this insight, we should have been more 
aggressive in our positioning on the attractive courses at the beginning of the year. On average, we 
have had an exposure of just over 100 per cent of the share capital. In other words, we have made little 
use of leverage (borrowing) throughout the year. 
 
After any period of positive returns, it is easy to point out that we could have earned even more by 
using more leverage. But not everything can be attributed to hindsight. We identified attractive 
investments. We should have made better use of these opportunities. That said, it is important to keep 
in mind that leverage, all other things being equal, will increase volatility. Therefore, our ability as an 
investment community to withstand short-term fluctuations is absolutely crucial for the long-term 
results we want to achieve. In our opinion, a portfolio of carefully selected quality companies, 
combined with moderate leverage, is a robust and relatively safe way to a good return. 
 

The portfolio 

At the end of the year, we had ownership interests in twenty two companies. For most people, 2021 
was a year of increased profits. The median company in the portfolio increased its profit per share by 
more than 30 percent compared to the previous year. 
 
The pandemic has affected our companies very differently. Some saw profits weaken sharply in 2020, 
while others had their highest profits ever. Our investments in technology and health trusts in 
particular have delivered good results over the past two years. For example, in 2020, Alphabet, 
Google’s parent company, delivered its best ever result with a profit after tax of over US$40 billion. 
When Alphabet reports its results for 2021, we expect a profit after tax of over US$70 billion. 
 
Roche and Sonic Healthcare’s contributions have been important in the fight against Covid-19. Roche 
through the development and delivery of both equipment for laboratory testing and home testing. 
Sonic through operating laboratories worldwide. Earnings, especially at Sonic, clearly show the high 
level of activity this has entailed. 
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Alternative Investment Fund Manager’s Report 

Pareto Total 

For the financial year ended 31st December 2021 
(Continued) 

 

The portfolio (continued) 

Our companies in the industrial sector typically had a weaker 2020. Several of these companies have 
returned sharply in 2021. In fact, several of the industrial companies are likely to report historically 
high profits in 2021. BMW is a typical example. In 2020, for the first time in history, BMW had to 
shut down production. This year, there is a lot of room for BMW to report its best result ever. In 2021, 
BMW’s preference shares gave a 29 percent return, compared to 14 percent the year before. 
 
One company that has been hit hard by the pandemic is Disney. Several of the company’s traditional 
sales channels have been closed or operated with limited capacity. Although Disney has had several 
challenges related to the pandemic, we believe that the normalised earning capacity has not been 
weakened. On the contrary. Disney has taken advantage of the opportunities the pandemic has created 
in a good way. In just a few months, Disney launched and built the world’s second largest streaming 
service. This will in all probability be very profitable within a few years. There are also many 
indications that amusement parks and everything that borders on this business will experience 
historically high pricing ability and profitability when they again have the opportunity to operate at 
full capacity. 
 

Time works in favour of good companies 

Businesses are not static. They are constantly evolving. For good companies, this development means 
creating value. These are not just shareholder values. Good companies also create new resources for 
customers, employees and society as a whole. 
 
Both customers, employees and owners have benefited from the value creation of John Deere. Deere 
primarily creates resources by developing more efficient agricultural machinery. An example of this is 
“ExactEmerge”. This is a machine that is used for planting crops. ExactEmerge has several positive 
features for farmers. The use of advanced sensors ensures that virtually no seeds are wasted. In 
addition, it doubles the speed of planting. This reduces working hours used for planting. If we put 
together savings on grain and working hours, we get a saving for a typical farm of 133 dollars per 
hectares. We know that a typical large American farm is 800 hectares. This results in an annual saving 
for the farm of around US$100,000 each year. For the first five years, ExactEmerge will lead to value 
creation of almost US$500,000. 
 
This value creation is shared between the farmers (increased earnings per hectare of cultivated land) 
and John Deere (increased price of ExactEmerge compared to previous models). For society, this type 
of innovation leads to increased food production with the use of fewer resources. A real “win / win” 
situation for everyone involved. On the first shares we bought in John Deere back in 2014, we have 
now achieved a return of almost 600 percent, corresponding to an annual return of 26 percent. 
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Alternative Investment Fund Manager’s Report 

Pareto Total 

For the financial year ended 31st December 2021 
(Continued) 

 

Time works in favour of good companies (continued) 

In the agricultural sector, major technological changes are taking place. The use of machine learning 
and artificial intelligence in combination with advanced sensor and camera technology will make the 
agricultural machines of the future more efficient than today's machines. Historically, one of John 
Deere’s most important competitive advantages has been their large scale. It gives John Deere a 
number of benefits in research and development, distribution and not least in customer follow-up. For 
example, John Deere invested five times as much in research and development as his closest 
competitor last year. Nevertheless, this cost was only marginally higher as a share of John Deere’s 
revenue. Going forward, there are many indications that John Deere’s economies of scale will only 
increase in strength. 
 
The technological development in “industrial” farming depends on the development of both machines 
and “software”. John Deere has dominated the physical machine side for decades. Going forward, 
software will account for a larger share of value creation. John Deere has a common user interface 
across all of its products. In addition, they have an open software platform. This means that other 
companies can post their apps and products on John Deere’s platform. This creates major competitive 
advantages in the form of strong network effects and high switching costs for customers. 
 
We recognise this strategy from several other companies, such as Apple. Apple understood early on 
that controlling the physical product (iPhone) in combination with the user interface (iOS) gave great 
competitive advantages. John Deere has a large installed base of agricultural machinery with very 
loyal and satisfied customers. These are well acquainted with John Deere’s user interface. Going 
forward, this could mean an even stronger competitive advantage. 
 

A different investment community 

We started Pareto Total in 2014. The idea was to create a fund where we could invest the funds as we 
would invest our own funds. Therefore, Pareto Total does not resemble traditional fund products 
developed to satisfy the broad market. Our investment principles are based on decades of experience 
from investing in the capital market, both at home and abroad. In our opinion, a concentrated portfolio 
of quality companies with moderate leverage is a safe way to achieve a good long-term return. 
 
At the beginning of 2022, almost the entire share capital has been invested in equities. The way out of 
the pandemic will open up good opportunities. Both the companies we are invested in and the fund 
have a balance sheet that provides financial flexibility to take advantage of these opportunities. 
 
Portfolio managers: Bård Johannessen and Oddmund N. Enæs 
17th February 2022 
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Alternative Investment Fund Manager’s Report 

Pareto Nordic Omega 

For the financial year ended 31st December 2021 
 
Net return in 2021 was 6.3 per cent (B-class, NOK). It was a decent year, again well ahead of the 
HFRU Equity Index, but like 2019 quite weak relative to the Nordic equity market. Since inception, 
however, net return almost equals that of the Nordic equity market, even with an average net equity 
exposure of 69 per cent. 
 
Since 2016, when the US central bank started to normalise monetary policy, we have had a moderate 
net exposure. Our relative returns from 2016 to 2018 were strong, but we under-estimated the impact 
of the massive policy impulse which started at the end of 2019. Obviously, many companies are 
constantly enhancing their value proposition, but it is equally obvious that generous government 
stimuli have accelerated demand and pushed up equity valuation. The stimuli have been too generous 
and even contributed to create a problem of inflation. We believe that some degree of paying back is 
inevitable, but that interest rates can only increase that much to avoid a recession. Consequently, we 
are increasing the quality share of the portfolio further, that is companies with growth potential, good 
capital returns and responsible corporate governance.  
 
The worst stock in the portfolio in 2021 was Scatec, the renewable energy company, which halved in 
value after almost tripling in 2020. The share price is still up by more than nine times since we bought 
it in 2014. We attribute the poor performance this year primarily to a substantial decrease in expected 
returns from future power plants. We acknowledge that those expectations were exuberant entering 
2021, but we now estimate that the value attributed to future power plants is at an all-time low. 
Secondly, Covid-19 and delayed approval of some power plants have caused less expansion than we 
anticipated a year ago. We were fortunate in reducing our stake in Scatec in January and have added to 
the position as the year progressed. 
 
Nordic Semiconductor was the top contributor to the fund in 2021. The share price more than doubled 
as revenue growth continued to exceed the market’s estimates. The developer of low-power wireless 
connections is at the heart of the “everything connected” society with its top-performing products. We 
expect revenues to have increased close to 50 per cent this year, after a 40 per cent boost in 2020. We 
believe it is inevitable that revenue growth over the next years will decelerate and current valuation is 
largely reflecting the strong prospects. The share price is now close to 30 times the price we paid in 
2005. 
 
Valmet, the technology provider to the paper and pulp industry, was the second-best performer in our 
portfolio. Order intake and margins kept exceeding our expectations. We believe the former has 
peaked, but profits should continue higher in 2022. In our opinion, the market has still to reward this 
high-quality company with higher valuation multiples. 
 
Looking into 2022, we believe the 2021 returns in the Nordic equity market will be hard to beat. Our 
caution still rests on the unsustainable effects of the excessively dovish monetary policy. However, our 
stock selection model, which primarily rests on growth potential, capital returns and corporate 
governance, should continue to produce positive returns. 
 
Portfolio managers: Christian Nygaard and Ole Jørgen Grøneng Nilsen 
17th February 2022 
 
 



 
 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report to the shareholders of Pareto plc
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Pareto plc (or the “Company”), which comprise the Schedule of Investments, the 
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
Attributable to Redeemable Participating Shares, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes to the financial 
statements, including the summary of significant accounting policies for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.  
 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is Irish law and
accounting standards including International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.
 
In our opinion, the Company’s financial statements:  

 give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company as 
at 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014. 

 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (or “ISAs (Ireland)”) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the 
financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Ireland, namely the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory 
Authority (IAASA) Ethical Standard concerning the integrity, objectivity and independence of the auditor, and the ethical 
pronouncements established by Chartered Accountants Ireland, applied as determined to be appropriate in the circumstances 
for the entity. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the director’s use of going concern basis of accounting in the 

preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 

individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of 

at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections 
of this report. 
 
Other information 
 
Other information comprises information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon, such as the Report of the Directors, the Alternative Investment Fund Manager’s Report, the Depositary’s 
Report and the unaudited appendix to the Annual Report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies in the financial 
statements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard.   
 



 
 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report to the shareholders of Pareto plc

 
Matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Act, 2014  

 We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

 In our opinion the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily 
and properly audited. 

 The financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records. 

 In our opinion the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements. Based solely 
on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, in our opinion, the directors’ report has been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2014. 

 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
Based on our knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have 
not identified material misstatements in the directors’ report. 
 
Under the Companies Act, 2014 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration 
and transactions specified by section 305 to 312 of the Companies Act, 2014 have not been made. We have no exceptions 
to report arising from this responsibility. 
 
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements 
 
As explained more fully in the directors’ report, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
which give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal control as 
they determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 
Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements 
 
The auditor’s objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes their opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), the auditor will exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. The auditor will also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for their opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors. 

 

 



 
 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report to the shareholders  of Pareto plc
 
Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements (continued) 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If they conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, they are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify their opinion. Their conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of the auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a matter that achieves a true 
and fair view.  

 
The auditor communicates with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that may be identified during 
the audit. 
 
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 
 
This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with section 391 of the Companies Act,

2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we are 

re quired to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s shareholders as a body, for 
our au dit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

 
 
 
 
Niamh Meenan  
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton  
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Audit Firm  
Dublin 
 
  

 

 

Date: 27 April 2022

 

 

 

 

 
 



PARETO PLC 

Statement of Financial Position 

As at 31 st December 2021 

Notes 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 7 
Due from broker 7 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 3 
Receivables 8 

Total Assets 

Liabilities 
Due to broker 7 
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 3 
Payables 9 

Total Liabilities (excluding Net Assets 

attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares) 

Net Assets attributable to Holders of 

Redeemable Participating Shares 

Pareto Total 

NOK 

10,100,358 
418,489,949 

6,395,115,515 
1,291,592 

6,824,997,414 

348,070,615 

87,044,755 

435,115,370 

6,389,882,044 

Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

NOK 

8,874,563 
25,747,945 

240,821,025 
229 

275,443,762 

1,254,028 

38,783,544 
2,895,344 

42,932,916 

232,510,846 

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors 

16 

Total 

NOK 

18,974,921 
444,237,894 

6,635,936,540 
1,291,821 

7,100,441,176 

349,324,643 

38,783,544 
89,940,099 

478,048,286 

6,622,392,890 

27 April 2022
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31st December 2020 

 

   

Pareto Total 

 Pareto  

Nordic Omega 

  

Total 

 Notes NOK  NOK  NOK 

       

Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents 7 1,709,317  79,988,524  81,697,841 
Due from broker 7 171,439,497  172,472,607  343,912,104 
Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss 

 
3 4,827,718,636 

 
388,074,830 

  
5,215,793,466 

Receivables 8 974,604  1,333,203  2,307,807 

       

Total Assets  5,001,842,054  641,869,164  5,643,711,218 

       

Liabilities       
Due to broker 7 148,135,638  702  148,136,340 
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 

 
3 54,042,497 

 
57,481,926 

  
111,524,423 

Payables  9 45,757,828  22,207,342  67,965,170 

       

Total Liabilities (excluding Net Assets  

attributable to Holders of Redeemable  

Participating Shares) 247,935,963 

 

79,689,970 

  

 

327,625,933 

      

Net Assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares  4,753,906,091 

 

562,179,194 

  

5,316,085,285 

      

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the financial year ended 31st December 2021 
 

             

Pareto Total 

             Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

         

Total 

      Notes             NOK              NOK          NOK 

Income       
Interest on cash and cash equivalents 2 7,961  915  8,876 
Dividends on investments 2 91,390,549  12,510,229  103,900,778 
Other income 2 2,902,864  277,220  3,180,084 
Withholding taxes on dividends 2 (18,972,384)  (3,715,367)  (22,687,751) 
Net gain on financial assets and liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss 12 1,252,785,576 

  
45,532,688 

  
1,298,318,264 

     
Total  1,328,114,566  54,605,685  1,382,720,251 

       

Expenses       
Interest on cash and cash equivalents 2 (1,577,267)  (240,871)  (1,818,138) 
Dividends paid on securities sold short 2 -  (3,884,119)  (3,884,119) 
Performance fees 13 (68,481,608)  (7,324,605)  (75,806,213) 
Alternative Investment Fund Manager fees 11 (19,698,497)  (4,454,616)  (24,153,113) 
Depositary fees  11 (2,213,627)  (148,000)  (2,361,627) 
Administration fees 11 (2,645,803)  (503,686)  (3,149,489) 
Directors’ fees 11 (594,121)  (203,783)  (797,904) 
Audit fees  (237,962)  (28,602)  (266,564) 
Other fees and expenses   (1,359,516)  (197,648)  (1,557,164) 
       
Total expenses  (96,808,401)  (16,985,930)  (113,794,331) 
       

Increase in Net Assets attributable to  

Holders of Redeemable Participating  

Shares from operations 1,231,306,165 

  

 

37,619,755 

  

 

1,268,925,920 

      

Gains and losses arose solely from continuing operations. 
 
The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the financial year ended 31st December 2020 
 

              

Pareto Total 

             Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

         

Total 

      Notes             NOK              NOK          NOK 

Income       
Interest on cash and cash equivalents 2 577,272  199,989  777,261 
Dividends on investments 2 100,699,407  6,201,777  106,901,184 
Other income 2 499,556  13,904  513,460 
Withholding taxes on dividends 2 (22,732,914)  (944,964)  (23,677,878) 
Net gain on financial assets and liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss 12 804,996,652 

  
110,246,790 

  
915,243,442 

     
Total  884,039,973  115,717,496  999,757,469 

       

Expenses       
Interest on cash and cash equivalents 2 (4,352,278)  (399,685)  (4,751,963) 
Dividends paid on securities sold short 2 (1,547,724)  (1,373,401)  (2,921,125) 
Performance fees 13 (39,668,276)  (19,762,957)  (59,431,233) 
Alternative Investment Fund Manager fees 11 (13,720,152)  (4,969,695)  (18,689,847) 
Depositary fees  11 (1,660,612)  (169,455)  (1,830,067) 
Administration fees 11 (2,094,709)  (489,973)  (2,584,682) 
Directors’ fees 11 (606,889)  (229,529)  (836,418) 
Audit fees  (313,802)  (37,352)  (351,154) 
Other fees and expenses   (1,854,338)  (547,681)  (2,402,019) 
       
Total expenses  (65,818,780)  (27,979,728)  (93,798,508) 
       

Increase in Net Assets attributable to Holders  

of Redeemable Participating Shares  

from operations 818,221,193 

  

 

87,737,768 

  

 

905,958,961 

      

Gains and losses arose solely from continuing operations. 
 
The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets attributable to Holders of 

Redeemable Participating Shares 

For the financial year ended 31st December 2021 
 

   

Pareto Total 

 Pareto  

Nordic Omega 

  

Total 

  NOK  NOK  NOK 

Net Assets attributable to Holders of 

Redeemable Participating Shares at  

1st January 4,753,906,091 

 

562,179,194 

 

5,316,085,285 

       
Redeemable Participating Shares issued 792,042,154  46,520,867  838,563,021 
Redeemable Participating Shares redeemed (375,706,367)  (413,486,576)  (789,192,943) 
Equalisation credit (11,665,999)  (322,394)  (11,988,393) 

      
Increase/(decrease) in Net Assets from 
Shareholder transactions 404,669,788 

 
(367,288,103) 

 
37,381,685 

       
Increase in Net Assets attributable to Holders 
of Redeemable Participating Shares  
from operations 1,231,306,165 

 

37,619,755 

 

1,268,925,920 

       

Net Assets attributable to Holders of 

Redeemable Participating Shares at  

31st December 6,389,882,044 

 

232,510,846 

 

6,622,392,890 

                                                                                                                                   
The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets attributable to Holders of 

Redeemable Participating Shares 

For the financial year ended 31st December 2020 
 

   

Pareto Total 

 Pareto  

Nordic Omega 

  

Total 

  NOK  NOK  NOK 

Net Assets attributable to Holders of 

Redeemable Participating Shares at  

1st January 3,625,873,729 

 

494,083,945 

 

4,119,957,674 

       
Redeemable Participating Shares issued 342,205,632  83,873,176  426,078,808 
Redeemable Participating Shares redeemed (32,145,942)  (102,289,173)  (134,435,115) 
Equalisation credit (248,521)  (1,226,522)  (1,475,043) 

      
Increase/(decrease) in Net Assets from 
Shareholder transactions 309,811,169 

 
(19,642,519) 

 
290,168,650 

       
Increase in Net Assets attributable to Holders 
of Redeemable Participating Shares  
from operations 818,221,193 

 

87,737,768 

 

905,958,961 

       

Net Assets attributable to Holders of 

Redeemable Participating Shares at  

31st December 4,753,906,091 

 

562,179,194 

 

5,316,085,285 

                                                                                                                                   
The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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    Statement of Cash Flows 

  For the financial year ended 31st December 2021 
 

   

Pareto Total 

 Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

  

Total 

  NOK  NOK  NOK 

       

Cash flows from operating activities       

Increase in Net Assets attributable to Holders of  
Redeemable Participating Shares from operations 1,231,306,165 

 
37,619,755 

 
1,268,925,920 

       
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at  
fair value through profit or loss (1,567,396,879) 

 
147,253,805 

 
(1,420,143,074) 

(Increase)/decrease in due from broker  (247,050,452)  146,724,662  (100,325,790) 
(Increase)/decrease in receivables  (316,988)  1,332,974  1,015,986 
Increase in due to broker  199,934,977  1,253,326  201,188,303 
Decrease in financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss (54,042,497)  (18,698,382) 

 
(72,740,879) 

Increase/(decrease) in payables  41,286,927  (19,311,998)  21,974,929 

       
Net cash (used in)/provided by  
operating activities  

 
(396,278,747) 

 
296,174,142 

  
(100,104,605) 

       

Cash flows from financing activities       
Proceeds from Redeemable Participating  
Shares issued 

 
792,042,154 

 
46,520,867 

 
838,563,021 

Payments for Redeemable Participating  
Shares redeemed 

 
(375,706,367) 

 
(413,486,576) 

 
(789,192,943) 

Equalisation credit  (11,665,999)  (322,394)  (11,988,393) 

       
Net cash provided by/(used in)  
financing activities 

 
404,669,788 

 
(367,288,103) 

 
37,381,685 

       
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

  
8,391,041 

 
(71,113,961) 

 
(62,722,920) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January 1,709,317  79,988,524  81,697,841 

      

Cash and cash equivalents at 31st December  10,100,358  8,874,563  18,974,921 

       

Supplementary information:       
Interest received on cash and cash equivalents  7,474  707  8,181 
Interest received on debt securities  195,356  146,800  342,156 
Interest paid  (1,538,220)  (268,584)  (1,806,804) 
Dividends received (net of withholding tax)  72,039,938  8,648,063  80,688,001 
Dividends paid  -  (3,884,119)  (3,884,119) 

   
The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

  For the financial year ended 31st December 2020 
 

   

Pareto Total 

 Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

  

Total 

  NOK  NOK  NOK 

       

Cash flows from operating activities       

Increase in Net Assets attributable to Holders of  
Redeemable Participating Shares from operations 818,221,193 

 
87,737,768 

 
905,958,961 

       
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       
Increase in financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss (1,086,246,555) 

 
(13,494,225) 

 
(1,099,740,780) 

Decrease/(increase) in due from broker  122,543,898  (18,634,198)  103,909,700 
Decrease/(increase) in receivables  2,601,493  (1,250,884)  1,350,609 
(Decrease)/increase in due to broker  (38,215,646)  702  (38,214,944) 
Decrease in financial liabilities at  
fair value through profit or loss (150,172,089)  (27,296,342) 

 
(177,468,431) 

Increase in payables  22,105,916  16,531,255  38,637,171 

       
Net cash (used in)/provided by  
operating activities  

 
(309,161,790) 

 
43,594,076 

  
(265,567,714) 

       

Cash flows from financing activities       
Proceeds from Redeemable Participating  
Shares issued 

 
342,205,632 

 
83,873,176 

 
426,078,808 

Payments for Redeemable Participating  
Shares redeemed 

 
(32,145,942) 

 
(102,289,173) 

 
(134,435,115) 

Equalisation credit  (248,521)  (1,226,522)  (1,475,043) 

       
Net cash provided by/(used in)  
financing activities 

 
309,811,169 

 
(19,642,519) 

 
290,168,650 

       
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  649,379  23,951,557  24,600,936 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January 1,059,938  56,036,967  57,096,905 

      

Cash and cash equivalents at 31st December  1,709,317  79,988,524  81,697,841 

       

Supplementary information:       
Interest received on cash and cash equivalents  739,095  282,350  1,021,445 
Interest received on debt securities  3,519,298  -  3,519,298 
Interest paid  (4,519,274)  (377,080)  (4,896,354) 
Dividends received (net of withholding tax)  79,590,094  4,937,614  84,527,708 
Dividends paid  (1,754,943)  (1,552,968)  (3,307,911) 

   
The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

31st December 2021 
 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION  

 

Pareto plc (the “Company”) is an open-ended investment company with variable capital and segregated 
liability between its sub-funds, incorporated with limited liability and registered in Ireland under Sections 
1385 to 1415 of the Companies Act 2014 and the AIF Rulebook regulations with registered number 
529413.   
 
As at 31st December 2021, there are two sub-funds in the Company, Pareto Total and Pareto Nordic 
Omega (the “Sub-Funds”). Pareto Total was authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland (the “Central 
Bank”) on 18th July 2013 and Pareto Nordic Omega was authorised by the Central Bank on 23rd April 
2018, both as investment funds under the Act, Part 24. 
 
Pareto Total is a multi-class sub-fund with Institutional Classes A, B, I and Founder Class Shares 
available for issue. Institutional Classes A, B and I Shares are denominated in Norwegian Krone 
(“NOK”) and Founder Class Shares are denominated in Euro (“EUR”). The assets of Pareto Total 
comprise a single portfolio with base currency in NOK. The investment objective of Pareto Total is to 
achieve robust long-term returns through flexible and active investments, whilst curbing downside 
volatility. Pareto Total is managed to achieve optimal risk adjusted returns through security selection and 
asset allocation. Pareto Total commenced trading on 16th January 2014.  
 
Pareto Nordic Omega is a multi-class sub-fund with Classes A, B, C, M and I available for issue. Class 
M Shares may only be issued at the Directors’ discretion and to accredited investors. Class A Shares are 
denominated in EUR. Classes B, M and I Shares are denominated in NOK and Class C Shares are 
denominated in United States Dollar (“USD”). The assets of Pareto Nordic Omega comprise a single 
portfolio with base currency in NOK. The investment objective of Pareto Nordic Omega is to obtain 
capital appreciation, by offering investors the opportunity to participate in an alternative investment 
product focusing on the Nordic region, regardless of the equity markets’ directions. Pareto Nordic 
Omega is managed to achieve optimal risk adjusted returns through security selection and asset 
allocation. Pareto Nordic Omega commenced trading on 1st May 2018.  
 
On 23rd February 2015, the Central Bank granted approval to Pareto Asset Management AS, as 
Alternative Investment Fund Manager (the “AIFM”) previously Pareto Nordic Investments AS, to 
passport AIFM services into Ireland. 
 

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

The significant accounting policies adopted by the Company are as follows: 

 

Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements have been presented in compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (the “EU”) as published by the International 
Accounting Standards Board and provisions of the Act. These financial statements are presented in NOK 
which is the Company’s functional currency. They are prepared on a fair value basis for financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Other assets and liabilities are stated at 
amortised cost or redemption amount (Redeemable Participating Shares). The preparation of financial 
statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the EU requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, income and expenses.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

31st December 2021 
(Continued) 

 

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Basis of Preparation (continued) 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making 
judgements about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the financial year in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only 
that financial year or in the financial year of the revision and future financial years, if the revision affects 
both current and future financial years. Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and 
critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements are described in Note 4. 

 

New standards, amendments or interpretations issued and effective for the financial year 

beginning 1st January 2021 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning 1st January 2021. None of these are expected to have a material effect on the financial 
statements of the Company. 
 

New standards, amendments or interpretations issued but not effective and not early adopted for 

the financial year beginning 1st January 2021 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning 1st January 2021, and have not been early adopted in preparing these financial statements. 
None of these are expected to have a material effect on the financial statements of the Company. 
 

 Financial Assets and Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  

(i) Classification  

The Company classifies its investments as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The 
portfolio of financial assets is managed and performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. The Company 
is primarily focused on fair value information and uses that information to assess the assets’ performance 
and to make decisions. The contractual cash flows of the Company’s securities are solely principal and 
interest, however, these securities are neither held for the purpose of collecting contractual cash flows 
nor held both for collecting contractual cash flows and for sale. The collection of contractual cash flows 
is only incidental to achieving the Company’s business model’s objective. Consequently, all investments 
are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
(ii) Recognition  

The Sub-Funds’ trading securities are accounted for on the trade date and are acquired at fair value at the 
time of acquisition and transaction costs are expensed as incurred and included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Realised and unrealised gains and losses on trading securities are calculated on 
a “first in first out” basis and are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

 
 
 
 



 

PARETO PLC 
 

26 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

31st December 2021 
(Continued) 

 

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

     Financial Assets and Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

(iii) Subsequent measurement 

After initial measurement, the Company measures financial instruments, which are classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss, at their fair values. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.  
 
The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market prices on a recognised exchange 
or sourced from a reputable broker / counterparty in the case of non-exchange traded instruments, at the 
Statement of Financial Position date, without any deduction for estimated future selling costs. Where 
investments are listed or dealt in more than one market, the Directors will, in their absolute discretion, 
select the market, which in their opinion constitutes the main market for such investments. The Directors 
have delegated the valuation of the investments to the Administrator. 
 
For all other financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined by using 
appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include: using recent arm’s length market 
transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument that is substantially the same; 
discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models, making as much use of available and 
supportable market data as possible.  
 

Subsequent changes in the fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Interest and dividends earned or incurred are 
accrued in interest and dividend income or expense respectively, according to the terms of contract. 
 
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on market conditions and information 
about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and 
matters of significant judgement and therefore, cannot be determined with precision. Changes in 
assumptions could significantly affect the estimates. The values used may have been different had a 
ready market existed and these differences could be material. Realised and unrealised gains and losses on 
all investments are accounted for through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  
 
(iv) Derecognition 

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire or it transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition when 
either the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial assets, or the 
Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial 
assets, but has transferred control of the financial asset. The Company derecognises a financial liability 
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or has expired. 
 
(v) Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial instruments are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on 
a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

31st December 2021 
(Continued) 

 

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

     Financial Assets and Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

(vi) Transfer between levels of the fair value hierarchy 

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at the end of the 
financial year.  
 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant changes in value and are held for the purpose of 
the meeting of short-term cash commitments rather than for investments or other purposes.  
 
SMT Trustees (Ireland) Limited as Depositary has appointed Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited 
(London Branch) as its Custodian. Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited (London Branch) has, in turn, 
appointed Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (“BBH”) as their sub-custodian. This cash is ultimately held 
at BBH as Banker. Cash comprises cash held with BBH. There are currently no restrictions on the cash 
held with BBH or Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken (“SEB”). 

 

Due from/to Broker 

Due from/to broker comprises of amounts due from/to SEB. 

 

Functional and Presentation Currency 

Items included in the Company’s financial statements are measured using NOK (the functional and 
presentation currency). Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Company operates. If indicators of the primary economic environment are mixed, then the 
Directors use their judgement to determine the functional currency that most faithfully represents the 
economic effect of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. Subscription monies are payable 
in the currency of the relevant Class in the Sub-Funds. Shareholders will normally be repaid in the 
currency of the relevant Class in the sub-fund. Accordingly, management has determined that the 
functional currency of the Fund is NOK. 
 

Foreign Currency Translation 

Securities transactions are recorded in the financial statements on the trade date of the transaction and 
translated into NOK at the exchange rate prevailing at the close of business on the trade date. Other 
foreign currency payments are translated into NOK at the rate of exchange on the transaction date. All 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the 
exchange rates ruling at the Statement of Financial Position date. Foreign currency gains or losses arising 
from trading activities are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within “net gain on 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”. 
 

Income / (Expense) 

Dividend income and expense is recorded on an ex-date basis gross of any non-recoverable withholding 
taxes suffered which is disclosed separately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Dividend 
expense relating to equity securities sold short is recognised when the Shareholder’s right to receive the 
payment is established. Interest income and expense on debt securities are both accounted for on an 
effective yield basis; interest income and expense on cash and cash equivalents are both accounted for on 
an accrual basis. 
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Income / (Expense) (continued) 

Other income relates to VAT recovered and subscription fees at a rate of 0.1% of the subscription 
amount. The subscription fee may be waived in whole or in part at the discretion of the Directors who 
may consult with the AIFM.  

 

Expenses 

Expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis. 

 

Redeemable Participating Shares 

Redeemable Participating Shares are redeemable at the Shareholders’ option and are classified as 
financial liabilities. The liabilities arising from the Redeemable Participating Shares are carried at the 
redemption amount being the Net Asset Value (“NAV”). The Redeemable Participating Shares can be 
put back to Pareto Total on any dealing day (quarterly) and Pareto Nordic Omega (monthly) for cash 
equal to a proportionate share of the Sub-Funds’ NAV. 

 

Calculation of NAV 
The NAV per share of any Class is calculated by determining that proportion of the NAV that is 
attributable to the relevant Class. All shares are issued and redeemed at this price. 
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3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
 

 

 

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 

  

2021 

Pareto Total 

Fair Value 

 2021 

Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

Fair Value 

  

2021 

Total 

Fair Value 

  NOK  NOK  NOK 

Collective investment scheme  -  19,574,513  19,574,513 
Equity securities long  6,395,115,515  221,246,512  6,616,362,027 

Total financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss 

 

6,395,115,515 

 

240,821,025 

 

6,635,936,540 
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss 

      

Equity securities sold short  -  38,783,544  38,783,544 

Total financial liabilities at fair value  

through profit or loss 

 

- 

 

38,783,544 

 

38,783,544 

 

 

 

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 

  

2020 

Pareto Total 

Fair Value 

 2020 

Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

Fair Value 

  

2020 

Total 

Fair Value 

  NOK  NOK  NOK 

Collective investment scheme  -  34,451,624  34,451,624 
Variable rate bonds  6,044,763  -  6,044,763 
Equity securities long  4,821,673,873  353,623,206  5,175,297,079 

Total financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss 

 

4,827,718,636 

 

388,074,830 

 

5,215,793,466 
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss 

      

Equity securities sold short  54,042,497  57,481,926  111,524,423 

Total financial liabilities at fair value  

through profit or loss 

 

54,042,497 

 

57,481,926 

 

111,524,423 

 
Net changes in fair value on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are disclosed in 
Note 12. 
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4. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The tables below and overleaf show financial instruments recognised at fair value, analysed between 
those whose fair value is based on: 
 

• Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 
 

• Those involving inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (Level 2); 
and 

 

• Those with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs) (Level 3).  

 

 2021  2021  2021  2021 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Pareto Total NOK  NOK  NOK  NOK 

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 

       

Equity securities long 6,395,115,515  -  -  6,395,115,515 

        
 6,395,115,515  -  -  6,395,115,515 

 

Pareto Nordic Omega        

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 

       

Collective investment schemes -  19,574,513  -  19,574,513 
Equity securities 221,246,512  -  -  221,246,512 

        
 221,246,512  19,574,513  -  240,821,025 
 

Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss 

       

Equity securities sold short 38,783,544  -  -  38,783,544 
        

 38,783,544  -  -  38,783,544 
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4. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

 2020  2020  2020  2020 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Pareto Total NOK  NOK  NOK  NOK 

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 

       

Variable rate bonds -  6,044,763  -  6,044,763 
Equity securities long 4,821,673,873  -  -  4,821,673,873 

        
 4,821,673,873  6,044,763  -  4,827,718,636 

 

Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss 

       

Equity securities sold short 54,042,497  -  -  54,042,497 
        

 54,042,497  -  -  54,042,497 

Pareto Nordic Omega        

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 

       

Collective investment schemes -  34,451,624  -  34,451,624 
Equity securities 353,623,206  -  -  353,623,206 

        

 353,623,206  34,451,624  -  388,074,830 
 

Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss 

       

Equity securities sold short 57,481,926  -  -  57,481,926 
        

 57,481,926  -  -  57,481,926 

 

When fair values of listed equity securities at the reporting date are based on quoted market prices or 
binding dealer price quotations, without any deduction for transaction costs, the instruments are 
included within Level 1 of the hierarchy. 
 
The fair value of debt securities is based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) 
and are therefore included within Level 2. Investments in collective investment schemes are valued 
based on the NAV per share published by the administrator of those funds. Such a NAV is adjusted 
when necessary, to reflect the effect of the time passed since the calculation date, liquidity risk, 
limitations on redemptions and other factors. Depending on the fair value level of an underlying 
fund’s assets and liabilities and on the adjustments needed to the NAV per share published by that 
fund, the Company classifies the fair value of these investment as Level 2. 
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4. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

Level 3 reconciliation  

Included within Level 3 of the hierarchy are the four Pareto Total investments in Dolphin Drilling ASA 
which have been priced at zero with the agreement of the AIFM. Dolphin Drilling ASA went bankrupt in 
June 2019. The position is held for future collection of settlement, if any, from the bankruptcy estate. 
 
The following table shows a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of financial assets 
categorised within Level 3 between the beginning and the end of the reporting year: 

 

 2021  2020 

Pareto Nordic Omega NOK  NOK 

    

Opening Balance -  4,000,000 

Movement in net unrealised loss -  (1,480,000) 
Transfer out -  (2,520,000) 

    

Closing Balance -  - 

 
There were no transfers between levels during the year. During the year ended 31st December 2020, there 
was a transfer of NOK2,520,000 from Level 3 to Level 1 in Pareto Nordic Omega, in relation to Elliptic 
Laboratories AS, as a quoted price in an active market had become readily available. 
 
Financial instruments not measured at fair value  

The financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss are short-term financial assets 
and liabilities whose carrying amounts approximate fair value and are all considered Level 2 assets and 
liabilities except for cash and cash equivalents which are considered Level 1. These instruments are 
carried at amortised cost; their carrying values are a reasonable approximation of fair value.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits held with banks. Cash equivalents are short 
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to insignificant changes in value with a maturity of three months or less. As such, Level 1 has been 
deemed the most appropriate categorisation for the Sub-Funds’ cash and cash equivalents. Due from 
broker and receivables represent the contracted amounts and other obligations due to the Sub-Funds. Due 
to broker and payables represent the contractual amounts and obligations due by the Sub-Funds for 
settlement of expenses and other obligations due by the Sub-Funds. 
 
The puttable value of Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares is calculated 
based on the net difference between total assets and all other liabilities of the Company in accordance with 
the Company’s Prospectus. The Redeemable Participating Shares are not traded in an active market.  
 
A demand feature is attached to Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares as 
Shareholders can redeem from each Sub-Fund on any dealing day for cash equal to a proportionate share 
of each Sub-Fund’s NAV. As such, Level 2 is deemed to be the most appropriate categorisation for the 
Sub-Funds’ receivables, due from/to broker, payables and Net Assets attributable to Holders of 
Redeemable Participating Shares. 
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5. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

 

Risk Management Structure 

The Company’s AIFM is responsible for identifying and controlling risks. The Board of Directors 
supervise the AIFM and are ultimately responsible for the overall risk management approach within the 
Sub-Funds. 
 

Risk Measurement and Reporting System 

The Sub-Funds’ risks are measured using a method which reflects both the expected loss likely to arise in 
normal circumstances and unexpected losses, which are an estimate of the ultimate actual loss based on 
statistical models. The models make use of the probabilities derived from historical experience, adjusted 
to reflect the economic environment. 

 

The main risks arising from the Sub-Funds’ financial instruments are set out below along with a brief 
overview of how these risks are managed and monitored by the AIFM in accordance with the investment 
mandate: 
 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices and includes other price risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency 
risk.  
 
In order to produce part of the Sub-Funds’ return target, the AIFM has to assume market risk. The net 
exposure to the market is a result of the portfolio manager’s view at any time. Market risk exposure is 
available real time to the portfolio managers of the AIFM.  

 

Pareto Total 

The net equity exposure as at 31st December 2021 was 100.1% of the NAV (2020: 100.3%), whereas debt 
securities and due to broker accounted for 0.0% and (5.4)% respectively of the NAV (2020: 0.1% and 
(3.1)%). The net exposure levels are products of the market price and volume as a share of the total NAV. 

 

Pareto Nordic Omega 

The net equity exposure as at 31st December 2021 was 78.5% of the NAV (2020: 52.7%), whereas 
collective investment schemes and due to broker accounted for 8.4% and (0.5)% respectively of the NAV 
(2020: 6.1% and 0.0%). The net exposure levels are products of the market price and volume as a share of 
the total NAV. 
 

(i) Equity Price Risk 
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease (or increase in case of short positions) 
as the result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual stocks. The trading 
equity price risk exposure arises from the Sub-Funds’ investment portfolios. The Sub-Funds manage this 
risk by diversifying investments into different countries, different sectors and securities. Management’s 
best estimate of the effect on Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares and 
loss due to a reasonably possible change in equity indices, with all other variables held constant is shown 
below. In practice the actual trading results may differ from the below sensitivity analysis and the 
difference could be material.  
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5. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

(i) Equity Price Risk (continued) 
Pareto Total 

The following weighted net (long minus short) betas are used for 31st December 2021; USA 0.58, 
Scandinavia ex Norway 0.03, Asia-Pacific 0.05 and other Europe 0.32 (2020: USA 0.62, Scandinavia ex 
Norway 0.04, Asia-Pacific 0.04 and other Europe 0.34). The betas are weighted by the value of the 
correspondent security as a percentage of the net value of all securities in the portfolio that belong to the 
same market index.  
 
 

 
Market indices 

Change in 
equity price 

Effect on Net  
Assets and profit 

Change in 
equity price 

Effect on Net 
Assets and profit 

 2021 2021 2020 2020 

 % NOK % NOK 

OMX (Scandinavia ex Norway) +  - 10 +- 16,720,030 +  - 10 + - 19,864,672 

NYSE +  - 10 +- 372,470,073 +  - 10 + - 293,323,137 

OTHER EUROPE +  - 10 +- 203,194,563 +  - 10 + - 162,578,834 

ASIA-PACIFIC +  - 10 +- 30,328,196 +  - 10 + - 20,079,549 

 

Pareto Nordic Omega 

The following weighted net (long minus short) betas are used for 31st December 2021; Norway 0.23 and 
Scandinavia ex Norway 0.33 (2020: Norway 0.27 and Scandinavia ex Norway 0.16). The betas are 
weighted by the value of the correspondent security as a percentage of the net value of all securities in 
the portfolio that belong to the same market index.  
 

 
Market indices 

Change in 
equity price 

Effect on Net  
Assets and profit 

Change in 
equity price 

Effect on Net 
Assets and profit 

 2021 2021 2020 2020 

 % NOK % NOK 

OSE +  - 10 +- 4,456,428 +  - 10 + - 15,281,886 

OMX (Scandinavia ex Norway) +  - 10 +- 6,332,634 +  - 10 + - 9,070,761 
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5. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

(i) Equity Price Risk (continued) 

Concentration of Equity Price Risk  

Pareto Total 

The tables below analyse the concentration of equity price risk by relevant stock exchange: 
 

 
2021 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 

 NOK NOK 

OMX Stockholm 161,074,627 - 

OMX Copenhagen 325,383,684 - 

NYSE 1,978,824,435 - 

NASDAQ 1,502,716,300 - 

EURONEXT Paris 188,890,727 - 

SIX Switzerland 1,021,433,077 - 

LSE 501,983,577 - 

XETRA 387,484,745 - 

KOSPI Korea 208,944,195 - 

Australia SE 118,380,148 - 

Total 6,395,115,515 - 

 

 
2020 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 

 NOK NOK 

OMX Stockholm 207,136,348 26,782,122 

OMX Copenhagen 243,577,002 - 

NYSE 1,518,040,920 27,260,375 

NASDAQ 599,832,340 - 

EURONEXT Paris 185,559,645 - 

SIX Switzerland 810,325,064 - 

LSE 206,656,865 - 

XETRA 845,806,753 - 

KOSPI Korea 130,419,182 - 

Australia SE 74,319,754 - 

Total 4,821,673,873 54,042,497 
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5. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

(i) Equity Price Risk (continued) 

Concentration of Equity Price Risk (continued) 

Pareto Nordic Omega 

The tables below analyse the concentration of equity price risk by relevant stock exchange: 
 

 
2021 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 

 NOK NOK 

OSE 97,916,450 12,833,827 

OMX Stockholm 61,947,143 16,712,182 

OMX Helsinki 46,054,821 9,237,535 

OMX Copenhagen 15,328,098 - 

Total 221,246,512 38,783,544 

 

 
2020 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 

 NOK NOK 

OSE 206,153,812 17,197,939 

OMX Stockholm 76,009,739 14,574,525 

OMX Helsinki 61,834,477 25,709,462 

OMX Copenhagen 9,625,178 - 

Total 353,623,206 57,481,926 

 
Refer to the AIFM’s Reports for the Sub-Funds’ concentration by industry distribution. 
 

(ii) Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk represents the potential losses that the Sub-Funds might suffer due to adverse 
movements in relevant interest rates. The Sub-Funds may invest in assets and liabilities that bear interest 
rate risk. This risk is monitored and managed on a continuous basis by the AIFM.  
 
The analysts, who are employed by the AIFM, have online access to the exposure of the Sub-Funds at 
any time and they alert the AIFM if any kind of exposure is near or in breach with the investment 
restrictions, as outlined in the Prospectus. The portfolio managers cannot impose changes to the exposure 
as long as the AIFM complies with the investment restrictions. The Pareto Total Sub-Fund holds debt 
securities, as a result, the Sub-Fund is subject to interest rate risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing 
levels of market interest rates. Any excess cash is invested at short-term market interest rates. Interest 
rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair 
values of financial instruments. 
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5. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

(ii) Interest Rate Risk (continued) 

The sensitivity analyses below demonstrate management’s best estimate of the sensitivity of income and 
Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares to reasonably possible changes in 
interest rates, with all other variables held constant. In practice, the actual trading results may differ 
from the sensitivity analysis below and the difference could be material. The sensitivity of the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the Net 
Assets for one year, based on the floating rate trading financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31st 
December 2021 and 2020. The sensitivity of Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 
Participating Shares is analysed by maturity of the asset. The total sensitivity of Net Assets attributable 
to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares is based on the assumption that there are parallel shifts 
in the yield curve, while the analysis by maturity band, displays the sensitivity to non-parallel changes.  
 
Pareto Total 

At 31st December 2021, if there was an increase or decrease of 0.5% in interest rates, with all other 
variables held constant, there would have been an increase or decrease in Net Assets attributable to 
Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares of NOK402,598 (2020: NOK125,066) based on financial 
year end cash and due from/to broker balances. 
  
At 31st December 2021, as there were no debt securities held, if there was an increase or decrease of 
0.5% in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, there would have been no increase or 
decrease in Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (2020: NOK30,224). 
Interest rate exposure details are disclosed in the Schedule of Investments. 
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5. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

(ii) Interest Rate Risk (continued) 

Pareto Total (continued) 

Maturity analysis table 

The table below analyses the interest rate risk exposure as at 31st December 2021. The Sub-Fund’s assets 
and liabilities are included at fair value and categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or 
maturity dates. 

 

Less than 1 

month 

1 month  

- 1 year 

 Non - interest 

bearing Total

2021 NOK NOK  NOK NOK

Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 10,100,358 -  - 10,100,358
Due from broker 418,489,949 -  - 418,489,949
Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss  -  - 

  
6,395,115,515 6,395,115,515

Receivables -  -  1,291,592 1,291,592

     

Total assets 428,590,307  -  6,396,407,107 6,824,997,414

   

Total liabilities (excluding 

Net Assets attributable to 

Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares)   

Due to broker 348,070,615 -  - 348,070,615
Payables  - -  87,044,755 87,044,755

  

Total liabilities  348,070,615 -  87,044,755 435,115,370

    

Total Interest Sensitivity 

Gap 80,519,692 - 

 

N/A N/A
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5.    RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(ii) Interest Rate Risk (continued) 

Pareto Total (continued) 

Maturity analysis table (continued) 

The table below analyses the interest rate risk exposure as at 31st December 2020. The Sub-Fund’s assets 
and liabilities are included at fair value and categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or 
maturity dates. 

 

Less than 1 

month 

 1 month 

- 1 year 

 Non - interest 

bearing 

 

Total 

2020 NOK  NOK  NOK  NOK 

Assets         

Cash and cash equivalents 1,709,317  -  -  1,709,317 
Due from broker 171,439,497  -  -  171,439,497 
Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss  -  6,044,763 

  
4,821,673,873 

 
4,827,718,636 

Receivables -  -  974,604  974,604 

        

Total assets 173,148,814  6,044,763  4,822,648,477  5,001,842,054 

        

Total liabilities (excluding 

Net Assets attributable to 

Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares)    

   

 

 

 

Due to broker 148,135,638  -  -  148,135,638 
Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss - 

 
- 

 
54,042,497 

 
54,042,497 

Payables  -  -  45,757,828  45,757,828 

        

Total liabilities  148,135,638  -  99,800,325  247,935,963 

        

Total Interest Sensitivity 

Gap 25,013,176 

 

6,044,763 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 
Pareto Nordic Omega 

At 31st December 2021, if there was an increase or decrease of 0.5% in interest rates, with all other 
variables held constant, there would have been an increase or decrease in Net Assets attributable to 
Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares of NOK166,842 (2020: NOK1,262,302) based on financial 
year end cash and due from/to broker balances.  
 
At 31st December 2021 and 2020, the Sub-Fund held no debt securities.  
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5.    RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(ii) Interest Rate Risk (continued) 

Pareto Nordic Omega (continued) 

Maturity analysis table 

The table below analyses interest rate risk exposure as at 31st December 2021 and 2020. The Sub-Fund’s 
assets and liabilities are included at fair value and categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or 
maturity dates. 

 

 Less than 1 

month  

 Non -

interest 

bearing Total

2021 NOK NOK NOK

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 8,874,563 -  8,874,563
Due from broker 25,747,945 -  25,747,945
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  - 240,821,025 240,821,025
Receivables - 229 229

Total assets 34,622,508 240,821,254 275,443,762

  

Total liabilities (excluding Net Assets attributable to 

Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares)   

Due to broker 1,254,028 - 1,254,028
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - 38,783,544 38,783,544
Payables  - 2,895,344 2,895,344

Total liabilities  1,254,028 41,678,888 42,932,916

 

Total Interest Sensitivity Gap 33,368,480 N/A N/A

 

2020  

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 79,988,524 -  79,988,524
Due from broker 172,472,607 -  172,472,607
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  - 388,074,830 388,074,830
Receivables - 1,333,203 1,333,203

Total assets 252,461,131 389,408,033 641,869,164

  

Total liabilities (excluding Net Assets attributable to 

Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares)   

Due to broker 702 - 702
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - 57,481,926 57,481,926
Payables  - 22,207,342 22,207,342

Total liabilities  702 79,689,268 79,689,970

 

Total Interest Sensitivity Gap 252,460,429 N/A N/A
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5.    RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(iii) Currency Risk 

Currency risk represents the potential losses that the Sub-Funds might suffer due to adverse movements 
in non-base currency exposures. Some of the Sub-Funds’ assets and liabilities are invested in securities 
denominated in currencies other than NOK and any income received by the Sub-Funds from these 
investments will be received in those currencies, some of which may fall in value against the NOK. The 
Sub-Funds calculate their NAVs in NOK, the base currency of the Company, and there is therefore a 
currency exchange risk, which may affect the value of shares. The AIFM of the Sub-Funds does not 
seek to hedge currency risk, neither for other Share Classes than that in NOK (“external hedges”), nor 
within the Sub-Funds (“internal hedges”), hence the AIFM considers currency risk to be significant. 
 

The currency exposure of the Sub-Funds is set out as follows: 
 

Pareto Total 

 

2021 

Assets 

 

 

 

Monetary 

Assets / (Liabilities) 

NOK 

Currency 

Exposure 

NOK 

Australian Dollar   209,272,903  209,272,903 
British Pound   501,837,425  501,837,425 
Danish Krone   331,738,474  331,738,474 
Euro   577,395,709  577,395,709 
South Korean Won   118,838,415  118,838,415 
Swedish Krona   203,636,633  203,636,633 
Swiss Franc   1,021,159,904  1,021,159,904 
United States Dollar   3,482,674,235  3,482,674,235 

   6,446,553,698  6,446,553,698 

Liabilities      

Australian Dollar   (69,764,625)  (69,764,625) 
British Pound   (212,494,072)  (212,494,072) 
Danish Krone   (10,393)  (10,393) 
Euro   (21,946,016)  (21,946,016) 
Swedish Krona   (7,358)  (7,358) 
Swiss Franc   (7,754,505)  (7,754,505) 
United States Dollar   (37,920,080)  (37,920,080) 

   (349,897,049)  (349,897,049) 
      

   6,096,656,649  6,096,656,649 

2020      

Assets      
Australian Dollar   75,261,822  75,261,822 
British Pound   206,754,056  206,754,056 
Danish Krone   243,754,574  243,754,574 
Euro   588,875,381  588,875,381 
South Korean Won   130,521,856  130,521,856 
Swedish Krona   215,675,533  215,675,533 
Swiss Franc   810,263,298  810,263,298 
United States Dollar   2,665,812,694  2,665,812,694 

   4,936,919,214  4,936,919,214 
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5.    RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

(iii) Currency Risk (continued) 

Pareto Total (continued) 

 

2020 (continued) 

Liabilities 

 

 

 

Monetary 

Liabilities 

NOK 

Currency 

Exposure 

NOK 

British Pound   (39,684,487)  (39,684,487) 
Danish Krone   (39,613,905)  (39,613,905) 
Euro   (28,422,542)  (28,422,542) 
Swedish Krona   (26,897,652)  (26,897,652) 
Swiss Franc   (29,076,659)  (29,076,659) 
United States Dollar   (10,371,789)  (10,371,789) 

   (174,067,034)  (174,067,034) 
      

   4,762,852,180  4,762,852,180 

 

The table below indicates the currencies to which Pareto Total had exposure at 31st December 2021 and 
2020 on its trading monetary assets and liabilities. The analysis below discloses management’s best 
estimates of the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against the NOK 
(represents movement from the minimum level of the exchange rate to the maximum level during the 
financial years ended 31st December 2021 and 2020) with all other variables held constant on the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (due to the fair value of currency sensitive trading monetary assets 
and liabilities) and Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares.  
 
A negative amount in the table below reflects a potential net reduction in profit or Net Assets 
attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares, while a positive amount reflects a net 
potential increase. If the change in currency rate is 7.0% e.g. an appreciation of SEK vs NOK from 
1.0425 to 0.9740, then the net effect on Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating 
Shares and on profit would be NOK14,333,990. In practice, the actual trading results may differ from 
the below sensitivity analysis and the difference could be material.  
 
Note that the aggregated effect on AUD, CHF, DKK, EUR, GBP, KRW, SEK and USD is the sum of 
the effect on profit and effect on Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares 
(having opposite prefix).  
 

 

Currency 

Change in  

currency rate 

 

Net effect 

Change in  

currency rate 

 

Net effect 

 2021 2021 2020 2020 

 % NOK % NOK 

AUD + - 3.0 + - 4,253,695 + - 6.5 + - 4,896,272 

CHF + - 0.1 + - 814,713 + - 6.3 + - 49,317,285 

DKK + - 4.4 + - 14,538,989 + - 6.2 + - 12,676,823 

EUR + - 4.5 + - 24,806,005 + - 5.8 + - 32,759,696 

GBP + - 2.0 + - 5,817,819 + - 0.5 + - 896,571 

KRW + - 6.2 + - 7,427,293 + - 3.6 + - 4,690,485 

SEK + - 7.0 + - 14,333,990 + - 10.0 + - 18,801,890 

USD + - 2.9 + - 100,131,343 + - 2.6 + - 69,885,550 
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5.    RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

(iii) Currency Risk (continued) 

Pareto Nordic Omega 

 
 

2021 

 

 

 

Monetary 

Assets / (Liabilities) 

NOK 

Currency 

Exposure 

NOK 

Assets      
Danish Krone   17,376,338  17,376,338 
Euro   64,280,693  64,280,693 
Swedish Krona   72,890,876  72,890,876 
United States Dollar   2,672,799  2,672,799 

      

   157,220,706  157,220,706 

Liabilities      

British Pound   (717)  (717) 
Euro   (9,328,769)  (9,328,769) 
Swedish Krona   (17,947,803)  (17,947,803) 

      

   (27,277,289)  (27,277,289) 

      

   129,943,417  129,943,417 

2020      

Assets      
Danish Krone   17,172,072  17,172,072 
Euro   106,082,202  106,082,202 
Swedish Krona   148,666,144  148,666,144 
United States Dollar   2,631,738  2,631,738 

      

   274,552,156  274,552,156 

Liabilities      

British Pound   (702)  (702) 
Euro   (25,824,322)  (25,824,322) 
Swedish Krona   (14,534,720)  (14,534,720) 

      

   (40,359,744)  (40,359,744) 

      

   234,192,412  234,192,412 

 

The table overleaf indicates the currencies to which Pareto Nordic Omega had exposure at 31st 
December 2021 on its trading monetary assets and liabilities. The analysis overleaf discloses 
management’s best estimates of the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the currency rate 
against the NOK (represents movement from the minimum level of the exchange rate to the maximum 
level during the financial year ended 31st December 2021) with all other variables held constant on the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (due to the fair value of currency sensitive trading monetary assets 
and liabilities) and Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares.  
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5.    RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(iii) Currency Risk (continued) 

Pareto Nordic Omega (continued) 

A negative amount in the table below reflects a potential net reduction in profit or Net Assets 
attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares, while a positive amount reflects a net 
potential increase. If the change in currency rate is 7.0% e.g. an appreciation of SEK vs NOK from 
1.0425 to 0.9740, then the net effect on Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating 
Shares and on profit would be NOK3,867,585. In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the 
below sensitivity analysis and the difference could be material.  
 

Note that the aggregated effect on DKK, EUR, GBP, SEK and USD is the sum of the effect on profit 
and effect on Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares (having opposite 
prefix). 
 

 

Currency 

Change in  

currency rate 

 

Net effect 

Change in  

currency rate 

 

Net effect 

 2021 2021 2020 2020 

 % NOK % NOK 

DKK + - 4.4 + - 761,571 + - 6.2 + - 1,066,359 

EUR + - 4.5 + - 2,454,116 + - 5.8 + - 4,691,249 

GBP + - 2.0 + - 14 + - 0.5 + - 4 

SEK + - 7.0 + - 3,867,585 + - 10.0 + - 13,359,215 

USD + - 2.9 + - 77,692 + - 2.6 + - 69,262 
 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk represents the possibility that the Sub-Funds may not be able to rapidly adjust the size of 
their investment position in times of high volatility and financial stress at a reasonable price.  
 

None of the Sub-Funds’ NAVs were subject to special arrangements such as gates or lock-ups and there 
were no NAV suspensions during the financial year. 
 
The main liability of the Sub-Funds is the redemption of any shares that investors may wish to sell. 
Shareholders may redeem their shares as follows: 
 

Pareto Total  

Every quarter by 10 a.m. Irish time on the 15th business day (please refer to Note 20), or if such day is 
not a business day, the redemption deadline shall be the next business day following such day. 
 

The AIFM views the current redemption risk to be limited based on adequate notice for the quarterly 
liquidity cycle. 
 

Pareto Nordic Omega 

Every month by 10 a.m. Irish time on the 15th day prior to the relevant dealing day, if such day is not a 
business day, the redemption deadline shall be the next business day following such day. 
 

The AIFM endeavours to manage Pareto Nordic Omega’s investments and cash in order to meet 
liabilities. However, investments may be sold if insufficient cash is available to finance such 
redemptions. 
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5.    RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

Liquidity Risk (continued) 

Pareto Total  

The long equity positions constitute 100.08% of NAV as of 31st December 2021 (2020: 101.42%). 
The AIFM estimates the price impact in order to exit these positions during one, five, and ten 
working days in a “normal” market environment to be 0.54%, 0.30% and 0.22% (2020*: 0.69%, 
0.36% and 0.25%), respectively. Total NAV impact would be 0.54%, 0.30% and 0.22% (2020*: 
0.70%, 0.37% and 0.25%), respectively. In addition to the liquidity risk for equity exposure, Pareto 
Total may be exposed to liquidity risk related to debt instruments. The debt securities positions held 
are fair valued at NOKNil as of 31st December 2021. The debt securities positions constituted 0.1% 
of NAV as of 31st December 2020. 
 
The tables below and overleaf analyse financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity grouping 
based on the remaining period at the Statement of Financial Position date to the contractual maturity 
date. The amounts in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 
months equal their carrying balance, as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

 

2021 

Less than 1 

Month

1 - 12

 Months Total 

 NOK NOK NOK 

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 10,100,358 - 10,100,358 
Due from broker 418,489,949 - 418,489,949 
Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss  6,395,115,515 - 6,395,115,515 
Receivables 1,291,592 - 1,291,592 

 

Total assets  6,824,997,414 - 6,824,997,414 

 

Liabilities  

Due to broker 348,070,615 - 348,070,615 
Performance fees 67,438,146 - 67,438,146 
Equalisation credit payable to Shareholders 11,665,999 - 11,665,999 
Alternative Investment Fund Manager fees 5,814,107 - 5,814,107 
Administration fees  733,387 - 733,387 
Other payables  1,393,116  - 1,393,116 
Net Assets attributable to Holders of 
Redeemable Participating Shares - 6,389,882,044 6,389,882,044 

  

Total liabilities 435,115,370 6,389,882,044 6,824,997,414 

 
*During 2021, the AIFM implemented a new liquidity tool. The comparative figures for 2020 are restated to reflect this 
new methodology.  
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5.    RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

  

Liquidity Risk (continued) 

Pareto Total (continued) 

2020 

Less than 1 

Month

1 - 12

 Months Total 

 NOK NOK NOK 

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 1,709,317 - 1,709,317 
Due from broker 171,439,497 - 171,439,497 
Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss  4,821,673,873 6,044,763 4,827,718,636 

Receivables 974,604 - 974,604 

  

Total assets  4,995,797,291 6,044,763 5,001,842,054 

 

Liabilities  

Due to broker 148,135,638 - 148,135,638 
Financial liabilities at fair value through  
profit or loss 54,042,497 - 54,042,497 
Performance fees 39,617,413 - 39,617,413 
Equalisation credit payable to Shareholders 248,521 - 248,521 
Alternative Investment Fund Manager fees 3,818,983 - 3,818,983 
Administration fees  552,502 - 552,502 
Other payables  1,520,409  - 1,520,409 
Net Assets attributable to Holders of 
Redeemable Participating Shares - 4,753,906,091 4,753,906,091 

  

Total liabilities 247,935,963 4,753,906,091 5,001,842,054 

 

Pareto Nordic Omega 

The long equity positions of Pareto Nordic Omega constitute 95.2% of NAV as of 31st December 
2021 (2020: 62.9%). The AIFM estimates the price impact in order to exit these positions during one, 
five and ten working days in a “normal” market environment to be 0.56%, 0.48% and 0.40% (2020: 
2.01%, 1.34% and 0.96%), respectively. Total NAV impact would be 0.53%, 0.46% and 0.38% 
(2020: 1.27%, 0.84% and 0.60%), respectively. The cost for 1 day liquidation is based on 97% of the 
portfolio as it is not possible to liquidate 100%. 
 
In addition to the liquidity risk for equity exposure, Pareto Nordic Omega may be exposed to 
liquidity risk related to collective investment schemes. The collective investment scheme position 
constitutes 8.4% of NAV as of 31st December 2021 (2020: 6.1%). 
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5.    RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

  

Liquidity Risk (continued) 

Pareto Nordic Omega (continued) 

The tables below and overleaf analyse financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity grouping 
based on the remaining period at the Statement of Financial Position date to the contractual maturity 
date. The amounts in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 
months equal their carrying balance, as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

 

 

Less than 1 

Month 

1 - 12

 Months Total

2021 NOK NOK NOK

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 8,874,563  - 8,874,563
Due from broker 25,747,945  - 25,747,945
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  240,821,025  - 240,821,025
Receivables 229 - 229

   

Total assets  275,443,762 - 275,443,762

 

Liabilities  

Due to broker 1,254,028 - 1,254,028
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 38,783,544 - 38,783,544
Performance fees 2,077,892 - 2,077,892
Equalisation credit payable to Shareholders 322,394 - 322,394
Alternative Investment Fund Manager fees 218,694 - 218,694
Administration fees  34,068 - 34,068
Other payables  242,296  - 242,296
Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 
Participating Shares - 232,510,846 232,510,846

  

Total liabilities 42,932,916 232,510,846 275,443,762

 

2020   

Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 79,988,524  - 79,988,524
Due from broker 172,472,607  - 172,472,607
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  388,074,830  - 388,074,830
Receivables 1,333,203 - 1,333,203

   

Total assets  641,869,164 - 641,869,164
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5.    RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

  

Liquidity Risk (continued) 

Pareto Nordic Omega (continued) 

 

Less than 1 

Month

1 - 12

 Months Total 

2020 (continued) NOK NOK NOK 

Liabilities   
Due to broker 702 - 702 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 57,481,926 - 57,481,926 
Performance fees 19,684,562 - 19,684,562 
Equalisation credit payable to Shareholders 1,226,522 - 1,226,522 
Alternative Investment Fund Manager fees 496,608 - 496,608 
Administration fees  49,427 - 49,427 
Other payables  750,223  - 750,223 
Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 
Participating Shares - 562,179,194 562,179,194 

  

Total liabilities 79,689,970 562,179,194 641,869,164 

 

Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or counterparty will be unable or unwilling to meet a commitment 
that it has entered into and cause the Sub-Funds to incur financial losses. The Sub-Funds will be exposed 
to credit risk on parties with whom they trade and will also bear the risk of settlement default. Cash and 
trading securities are held with BBH and the Prime Broker and Sub-Custodian. 
 
The AIFM continuously monitors the share of NAV deposited with any one financial institution to 
ensure that the Sub-Funds’ deposits rest within the limits of the Investment Restrictions.  
 
Pareto Total 

As at 31st December 2021, 1.10% (2020: 0.49%) of the NAV was deposited at SEB and 0.16% (2020: 
0.04%) of the NAV was deposited at BBH, which have credit ratings of Aa3 and A+ respectively (2020: 
Aa2 and A+).  

 

Pareto Nordic Omega 

As at 31st December 2021, 10.53% (2020: 30.68%) of the NAV was deposited at SEB and 3.82% (2020: 
14.23%) of the NAV was deposited at BBH, which have credit ratings of Aa3 and A+ respectively 
(2020: Aa2 and A+). 

 

Typically, derivative contracts serve as components of the Sub-Funds investment strategy and are 
utilised primarily to structure and hedge investments, to enhance performance and reduce risk to the 
Sub-Funds (the Sub-Funds do not designate any derivative as a hedging instrument for hedge accounting 
purposes). The derivative contracts that the Sub-Funds hold or issue may include contracts for 
difference, futures contracts, over-the-counter options, forward currency contracts and currency swap 
agreements. There were no open derivative contracts held at 31st December 2021 or 2020.  
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5.    RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

  

Credit Risk (continued) 

Default or bankruptcy of the Prime Broker and Sub-Custodian, the Additional Sub-Custodian, BBH or 
the Depositary may cause the Sub-Funds’ access to their cash and securities to be delayed or limited. 
 

Offsetting and amounts subject to offsetting provisions on the Prime Broker agreement 

There were no open derivative contracts held at 31st December 2021 or 2020. 
 
The Sub-Funds and their counterparties have elected to settle all transactions on a gross basis however 
each party has the option to settle all open contracts on a net basis in the event of default of the other 
party. Per the terms of the Prime Broker master netting agreements, an event of default includes the 
following: 
 

- failure by a party to make payment when due; 
- failure by a party to perform any obligation required by the agreement (other than payment) if such 

failure is not remedied within 2 business days after notice of such failure is given to the party; and 
- bankruptcy.  

 

6.    OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISK 

 

Securities sold short represented obligations of the Sub-Funds’ to deliver a specified security and thereby 
created a liability to repurchase the security in the market at prevailing prices. Accordingly, these 
securities may result in off-balance sheet risk as the Sub-Funds satisfaction of the obligations may 
exceed the amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 

 

7.    CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS / DUE FROM/TO BROKER 

 

Cash balances are held as follows: 

 

Pareto Total 

 Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

  

Total 

 NOK  NOK  NOK 

2021      
Cash 9,366,229  4,125,997  13,492,226 
Foreign cash balances 734,129  4,748,566  5,482,695 

      

Cash and cash equivalents 10,100,358  8,874,563  18,974,921 

 
Cash 369,077,000  5,198,474  374,275,474 
Foreign cash balances 49,412,949  20,549,471  69,962,420 

      

Due from broker 418,489,949  25,747,945  444,237,894 

 
Foreign cash balances (348,070,615)  (1,254,028)  (349,324,643) 

      

Due to broker (348,070,615)  (1,254,028)  (349,324,643) 
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7.    CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS / DUE FROM/TO BROKER (continued) 

 

 

Pareto Total 

 Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

  

Total 

 NOK  NOK  NOK 

2020      
Cash 892,820  56,314,507  57,207,327 
Foreign cash balances 816,497  23,674,017  24,490,514 

      

Cash and cash equivalents 1,709,317  79,988,524  81,697,841 

 
Cash 28,379,335  70,433,949  98,813,284 
Foreign cash balances 143,060,162  102,038,658  245,098,820 

      

Due from broker 171,439,497  172,472,607  343,912,104 

      
Foreign cash balances (148,135,638)  (702)  (148,136,340) 

      

Due to broker (148,135,638)  (702)  (148,136,340) 

 
Cash balances are held with BBH, as well as being held with/owed to SEB.  
 

8.    RECEIVABLES 

 

Pareto Total 

 Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

  

Total 

 NOK  NOK  NOK 

2021      

Dividends receivable 1,291,104  -  1,291,104 

Interest receivable 488  229  717 

      

 1,291,592  229  1,291,821 

2020      

Receivable for investments sold -  1,333,182  1,333,182 

Dividends receivable 912,878  -  912,878 

Interest receivable 61,726  21  61,747 

      

 974,604  1,333,203  2,307,807 
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9. PAYABLES 

 

Pareto Total 

 Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

  

Total 

 NOK  NOK  NOK 

2021      

Interest payable 194,446  92  194,538 

Performance fees (Note 13) 67,438,146  2,077,892  69,516,038 

Equalisation credit (Note 13) 11,665,999  322,394  11,988,393 

Alternative Investment Fund Manager fees 5,814,107  218,694  6,032,801 

Depositary fees 633,105  6,989  640,094 

Administration fees 733,387  34,068  767,455 

Audit fees 230,398  40,113  270,511 

Other payables 335,167  195,102  530,269 

      

 87,044,755  2,895,344  89,940,099 

2020      

Interest payable 155,399  27,759  183,158 

Performance fees (Note 13) 39,617,413  19,684,562  59,301,975 

Equalisation credit (Note 13) 248,521  1,226,522  1,475,043 

Alternative Investment Fund Manager fees 3,818,983  496,608  4,315,591 

Depositary fees 447,742  17,347  465,089 

Administration fees 552,502  49,427  601,929 

Audit fees 240,687  37,352  278,039 

Other payables 676,581  667,765  1,344,346 

      

 45,757,828  22,207,342  67,965,170 

 

10. SHARE CAPITAL AND REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES  

 

Pareto Total 2021  2020 

Founder Class – EUR Share    
Number of shares outstanding as at beginning of year 1,542,237.73  1,449,346.24 
Number of shares issued 282.84  93,652.03 
Number of shares redeemed (94,039.38)  (760.54) 

    

Number of shares outstanding as at end of year 1,448,481.19  1,542,237.73 

    

Institutional Class A – NOK Share    

Number of shares outstanding as at beginning of year 417,837.14  417,837.14 
Number of shares issued 525,899.86  - 

Number of shares redeemed (417,837.14)     - 

    

Number of shares outstanding as at end of year 525,899.86  417,837.14 
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10. SHARE CAPITAL AND REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES (continued) 

 

Pareto Total (continued) 2021  2020 

Institutional Class B – NOK Share    

Number of shares outstanding as at beginning of year 4,246,556.96  3,697,138.13 
Number of shares issued 1,335,106.31  717,519.46 
Number of shares redeemed (408,630.06)  (168,100.63) 

    

Number of shares outstanding as at end of year 5,173,033.21  4,246,556.96 

 

Institutional Class I – NOK Share    

Number of shares outstanding as at beginning of year 3,660,617.23  3,270,594.12 
Number of shares issued 2,137,512.41  392,977.40 
Number of shares redeemed -  (2,954.29) 

    

Number of shares outstanding as at end of year 5,798,129.64  3,660,617.23 
 

Pareto Nordic Omega    

Class B – NOK Share    
Number of shares outstanding as at beginning of year 234,646.06  261,790.80 
Number of shares issued 22,142.76  13,812.07 
Number of shares redeemed (39,121.65)  (40,956.81) 

    

Number of shares outstanding as at end of year 217,667.17  234,646.06 
 

Class I – NOK Share    

Number of shares outstanding as at beginning of year 3,651,002.08  3,817,314.24 
Number of shares issued 279,971.80  679,001.28 
Number of shares redeemed (2,902,228.67)  (845,313.44) 

    

Number of shares outstanding as at end of year 1,028,745.21  3,651,002.08 

 

Class M – NOK Share    

Number of shares outstanding as at beginning of year 33,678.57  35,171.06 
Number of shares issued 1,814.22  466.74 
Number of shares redeemed (2,114.81)  (1,959.23) 

    

Number of shares outstanding as at end of year 33,377.98  33,678.57 
 

The authorised share capital of the Company is 2 subscriber shares of EUR1 each and 1 trillion shares 
of no par initially designated as unclassified shares. The subscriber shares do not form part of the NAV 
of the Company and are thus disclosed in the financial statements by way of this note only. On a show 
of hands at a general meeting or Class meeting of the Company, every holder holding subscriber shares 
who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for every full share held. The shares of each 
Class entitle the holders thereof to any dividends that may be declared in respect of the shares of that 
Class. On a winding up, the liquidator may, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, apply the 
assets of the Company in such a manner and order as he thinks fit in satisfaction of creditors’ claims 
relating to the Company. No shares have pre-emptive rights. There are no outstanding options or any 
special rights relating to any shares. 
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10. SHARE CAPITAL AND REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES (continued) 

 
The Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares are at all times equal to the 
NAV of the Company. The Redeemable Participating Shares are in substance a liability of the Company 
to Shareholders under IAS 32 as they can be redeemed at the option of the Shareholder and because the 
subscriber shares are more subordinate. 
 
The Directors reserve the right to differentiate between Shareholders and to waive or reduce the 
Minimum Shareholding or Minimum Initial Investment Amount for any such Shareholders or to refuse 
an application for any such shares at their absolute discretion, provided that the minimum subscription 
amount for Qualifying Shareholders (other than Accredited Investors) must be at least EUR100,000 in 
accordance with the requirements of the Central Bank. 
 
Pareto Total 
The Company has made Institutional Class A, B and I shares available for subscription in NOK. The 
minimum initial subscription being:  
NOK50,000,000 (Class A); 
NOK1,000,000 (Class B); and  
NOK100,000,000 (Class I). 
 
The Company has made Founder Class shares available for subscription in EUR, with the minimum 
initial subscription being EUR100,000,000. Shares in the Founder Class may be issued at the discretion 
of the Directors and may, in particular, be issued to Shareholders who have subscribed during the Initial 
Offer Period for that Share Class and, if applicable, majority owned subsidiary companies thereof, 
subject to the overall discretion of the Directors and provided that shares in the Founder Class may only 
be issued to Qualifying Investors or Accredited Investors. Pareto Total has no minimum additional 
subscription amount. 
 
Pareto Nordic Omega 
The Company has made Class B, M and I shares available for subscription in NOK. The minimum initial 
subscription is NOK1,000,000 (Class B) and NOK20,000,000 (Class I). Class M shares may only be 
issued at the Directors discretion and to Accredited Investors, with no minimum subscription amount. 
The Company has also made Class A shares available for subscription in EUR, with a minimum initial 
subscription of EUR500,000. The Company has also made Class C shares available for subscription in 
USD, with a minimum initial subscription of USD750,000. Pareto Nordic Omega has no minimum 
additional subscription amount. 
 

Capital Management 

As a result of the ability to issue and redeem shares, the capital of the Company can vary depending on 
the demand for redemptions from and subscriptions to the Company. The Company’s objective for 
managing capital is to obtain capital appreciation, regardless of the equity market’s direction.  
 
Refer to ‘Risks Associated With Financial Instruments’ (Note 5) for the policies and processes applied 
by each Sub-Fund in managing its capital. 
 
 
 
 



 

PARETO PLC 
 

54 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

31st December 2021 
 (Continued) 

 

11.  FEES AND EXPENSES 

 

AIFM fees 

Pareto Total  
The AIFM receives out of the assets of Pareto Total an annual fee of 0.75% of the NAV of the 
Institutional A Share Class, 1% of the NAV of the Institutional Class B Shares and 0.50% of the NAV of 
the Institutional I Share Class, prior to the accrual of investment management and performance fees (Note 
13). Such a fee is accrued quarterly and is calculated on each dealing day by reference to the NAV at the 
relevant valuation point. The AIFM also receives out of the assets of Pareto Total an annual fee of 0.15% 
per annum of the total NAV of the Founder Class for the first EUR100 million and 0.05% per annum 
above EUR100 million. The AIFM fee for the year ended 31st December 2021 was NOK19,698,497 
(2020: NOK13,720,152). As at 31st December 2021, a fee of NOK5,814,107 (2020: NOK3,818,983) was 
payable to the AIFM.  

 

Pareto Nordic Omega 
The AIFM receives out of the assets of Pareto Nordic Omega an annual fee of 1.5% of the NAV of the 
Class A, B and C shares, prior to the accrual of investment management and performance fees (Note 13). 
This fee may be increased up to 3% per annum on giving reasonable prior notification to Shareholders. 
The AIFM also receives out of the assets of Pareto Nordic Omega an annual fee of 0.95% of the NAV of 
Class I shares, prior to the accrual of investment management and performance fees. Such a fee is accrued 
monthly and is calculated on each dealing day by reference to the NAV of Pareto Nordic Omega at the 
relevant valuation point. No fee is payable to the AIFM in respect of the Class M shares. The AIFM fee 
for the year ended 31st December 2021 was NOK4,454,616 (2020: NOK4,969,695). As at 31st December 
2021, a fee of NOK218,694 (2020: NOK496,608) was payable to the AIFM. 

 

Administration fees 

Pareto Total  
Pareto Total pays the Administrator an administration fee, which is payable quarterly in arrears, out of its 
Net Assets (prior to the accrual of performance fees) equal to 0.06% of the NAV per annum in respect of 
the first EUR200 million, and 0.04% of the NAV per annum of the balance of the aggregate Net Assets 
subject to a minimum of EUR80,000 per annum.  
 
When the NAV attributable to investments by Shareholders other than the Founder Class equals or 
exceeds 50% of the NAV, the fee changes to a rate of 0.09% per annum of the total NAV for the first 
EUR100 million, 0.06% per annum of the total NAV for the next EUR100 million and 0.04% per annum 
of the balance of the aggregate Net Assets subject to a minimum of EUR80,000 per annum. The 
Administrator is also entitled to a transaction charge of EUR25 per movement on Pareto Total’s share 
register and EUR75 per new investor for anti-money laundering verification, both payable quarterly in 
arrears. The Administrator also receives a fixed fee of EUR3,500 per annum for the preparation of the 
annual financial statements. The Administrator is also reimbursed by Pareto Total for all fees and 
vouched expenses properly incurred by the Administrator in the performance of its duties. The 
administration fee for the year ended 31st December 2021 was NOK2,645,803 (2020: NOK2,094,709). As 
at 31st December 2021, a fee of NOK733,387 (2020: NOK552,502) was payable to the Administrator. 
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11.   FEES AND EXPENSES (continued) 

 

Administration fees (continued) 

Pareto Nordic Omega 
Pareto Nordic Omega pays the Administrator an administration fee, which is payable monthly in arrears, 
out of its Net Assets (prior to the accrual of performance fees) equal to 0.10% of the NAV per annum in 
respect of the first EUR150 million, 0.09% of the NAV per annum from EUR150 million to EUR250 
million, and 0.08% of the NAV per annum of the balance of the aggregate Net Assets subject to a 
minimum of EUR40,000 per annum. The Administrator is also entitled to a transaction charge of EUR20 
per movement on Pareto Nordic Omega’s share register. The Administrator is also reimbursed by Pareto 
Nordic Omega for all fees and vouched expenses properly incurred by the Administrator in the 
performance of its duties. The administration fee for the year ended 31st December 2021 was 
NOK503,686 (2020: NOK489,973). As at 31st December 2021, a fee of NOK34,068 (2020: NOK49,427) 
was payable to the Administrator. 

 

Depositary fees 

Pareto Total  
Pareto Total pays the Depositary a fee, paid quarterly in arrears, out of its Net Assets equal to 0.04% of 
the NAV per annum subject to a minimum fee of EUR36,000 per annum. When the NAV attributable to 
Shareholders other than the Founder Class equals or exceeds 50% of the NAV, the fee changes to a rate 
of 0.06% per annum subject to a minimum fee of EUR36,000 per annum. The Depositary is reimbursed 
by Pareto Total all properly vouched sub-custody (at normal commercial rates) and other reasonable and 
properly vouched fees and expenses incurred by the Depositary in the performance of its duties. The 
Depositary fee for the year ended 31st December 2021 was NOK2,213,627 (2020: NOK1,660,612). As at 
31st December 2021, a fee of NOK633,105 (2020: NOK447,742) was payable to the Depositary. 
 
Pareto Nordic Omega 
Pareto Nordic Omega pays the Depositary a fee, paid monthly in arrears, out of its Net Assets equal to 
0.035% of the NAV, with no minimum monthly fee. The Depositary is reimbursed by Pareto Nordic 
Omega all properly vouched sub-custody (at normal commercial rates) and other reasonable and properly 
vouched fees and expenses incurred by the Depositary in the performance of its duties. The Depositary 
fee for the year ended 31st December 2021 was NOK148,000 (2020: NOK169,455). As at 31st December 
2021, a fee of NOK6,989 (2020: NOK17,347) was payable to the Depositary. 
 

Directors’ Remuneration 

 

Pareto Total 

 Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

  

Total 

2021 NOK  NOK  NOK 

Fees in respect of qualifying services 594,121  203,783  797,904 

      

 594,121  203,783  797,904 

2020      

Fees in respect of qualifying services 606,889  229,529  836,418 

      

 606,889  229,529  836,418 
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11.   FEES AND EXPENSES (continued) 

 

Directors’ Remuneration (continued) 

The Directors are entitled to remuneration for their services as Directors provided however that the 
aggregate emoluments of such Directors in respect of any twelve month financial period shall not exceed 
EUR80,000. In addition, the Directors are also entitled to be reimbursed for their reasonable out-of-pocket 
expenses incurred in discharging their duties as Directors. Other than shown above, there are no further 
required disclosures in accordance with Sections 305 and 306 of the Act, for the financial years ended 31st 
December 2021 and 2020. 
 

Other fees and expenses 

Both Sub-Funds pay out of their assets, the fees and expenses payable to the AIFM, the Depositary, the 
Administrator, the Prime Broker and Sub-Custodian, the Additional Sub-Custodian and the Directors plus 
any fees in respect of circulating details of the NAV, stamp duties, taxes, company secretarial fees, 
brokerage or other expenses of acquiring and disposing of investments and the fees and expenses of the 
auditors, tax and legal advisors.  

 

12. NET GAIN ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 

OR LOSS 

 

Pareto Total 

 Pareto 

Nordic Omega 

  

Total 

2021 NOK  NOK  NOK 

Total realised gain from investments and currencies 322,817,222  150,176,086  472,993,308 

Total realised loss from investments and currencies (55,928,352)  (11,891,106)  (67,819,458) 
Total change in unrealised gain from investments  
and currencies 1,194,524,325 

 
32,797,211 

 
1,227,321,536 

Total change in unrealised loss from investments  
and currencies (209,162,264) 

 
(125,549,503) 

 
(334,711,767) 

Net coupon income on debt securities 534,645  -  534,645 

      

Net gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss 1,252,785,576 

  

45,532,688 

 

1,298,318,264 

      

2020      

Total realised gain from investments and currencies 427,127,569  124,397,519  551,525,088 

Total realised loss from investments and currencies (166,367,582)  (98,076,493)  (264,444,075) 
Total change in unrealised gain from investments  
and currencies 837,783,172 

 
104,668,583 

 
942,451,755 

Total change in unrealised loss from investments  
and currencies (296,249,737) 

 
(20,742,819) 

 
(316,992,556) 

Net coupon income on debt securities 2,703,230  -  2,703,230 

      

Net gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss 804,996,652 

 

110,246,790 

 

915,243,442 
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13.    PERFORMANCE FEES / EQUALISATION 

 

Pareto Total – 2021 

 Class A NOK  Class B NOK  Class I NOK  Total 

 NOK  NOK  NOK  NOK 

Performance fees payable for  
financial year 

 
1,083,091 

  
36,164,334 

  
31,234,183 

  
68,481,608 

Performance fees payable by 
compulsory redemption 

 
- 

  
- 

  
- 

 
- 

Performance fees charge for  

financial year 

 

1,083,091 

  

36,164,334 

  

31,234,183 

  

68,481,608 

Performance fees paid on 
redemptions 

 
- 

  
(1,043,462) 

  
- 

 
(1,043,462) 

Performance fees payable for 

financial year 

 

1,083,091 

  

35,120,872 

  

31,234,183 

  

67,438,146 

Equalisation credit -  5,484,852  6,181,147  11,665,999 

 

Pareto Nordic Omega – 2021            

   Class B NOK  Class I NOK  Total 

   NOK  NOK  NOK 

Performance fees payable for  
financial year 

   
872,391 

  
6,464,457 

  
7,336,848 

Performance fees payable by 
compulsory redemption 

   
- 

  
(12,243) 

  
(12,243) 

Performance fees charge for  

financial year 

   

872,391 

  

6,452,214 

  

7,324,605 

Performance fees paid on 
redemptions 

   
(119,480) 

  
(5,127,233) 

  
(5,246,713) 

Performance fees payable for 

financial year 

   

752,911 

  

1,324,981 

  

2,077,892 

Equalisation credit   81,625  240,769  322,394 

 

Pareto Total – 2020  

 Class A NOK  Class B NOK  Class I NOK  Total 

 NOK  NOK  NOK  NOK 

Performance fees payable for  
financial year 

 
2,223,729 

  
22,254,664 

  
15,621,684 

  
40,100,077 

Performance fees payable by 
compulsory redemption 

 
- 

  
(431,801) 

  
- 

  
(431,801) 

Performance fees charge for  

financial year 

 

2,223,729 

  

21,822,863 

  

15,621,684 

  

39,668,276 

Performance fees paid on 
redemptions 

 
- 

  
(50,863) 

  
- 

  
(50,863) 

Performance fees payable for 

financial year 

 

2,223,729 

  

21,772,000 

  

15,621,684 

  

39,617,413 

Equalisation credit -  248,521  -  248,521 
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13.    PERFORMANCE FEES / EQUALISATION (continued) 

 

Pareto Nordic Omega – 2020 

   Class B NOK  Class I NOK  Total 

   NOK  NOK  NOK 

Performance fees payable for  
financial year 

   
3,060,257 

  
16,702,700 

  
19,762,957 

Performance fees payable by 
compulsory redemption 

   
- 

  
- 

  
- 

Performance fees charge for  

financial year 

   

3,060,257 

  

16,702,700 

  

19,762,957 

Performance fees paid on 
redemptions 

   
(30,552) 

  
(47,843) 

  
(78,395) 

Performance fees payable for 

financial year 

   

3,029,705 

  

16,654,857 

  

19,684,562 

Equalisation credit   86,395  1,140,127  1,226,522 

 
The AIFM is entitled to be re-imbursed out of the assets of the Sub-Funds, an annual performance fee in 
respect of each share. The performance fee is calculated on a per Share basis so that each Share is only 
charged a Performance Fee which equates with that Share’s performance. The Performance Fee is 
calculated and accrued at each valuation point in respect of each dealing day and payable annually in 
respect of each accounting period of the Sub-Funds (each a “Calculation Period”).  
 
The Performance Fee in any Calculation Period is equal to 15% (Pareto Total) and 20% (Pareto Nordic 
Omega) of any appreciation in the NAV per share of the applicable Class in respect of each Calculation 
Period above the high water mark (the “HWM”) applied to that share during the Calculation Period. For 
the first Calculation Period, the HWM is the initial issue price per Share. For the Calculation Period in 
each subsequent calendar year, the HWM is the NAV per Share in respect of which a performance fee 
was paid (if any) as at the financial year end of the previous Calculation Period.  
 
The Founder Shares in Pareto Total and Class M Shares in Pareto Nordic Omega are not subject to 
performance fees. 
 

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 
There were no transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of business. The 
AIFM and related companies are deemed to be related parties under IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”. 
KB Associates, of which Mr. Mike Kirby, (a Director of the Company) is Managing Principal, provides 
operations management support to the Company. Fees incurred by KB Associates during the financial 
year amounted to NOK358,700 (2020: NOK375,924). The AIFM is the management company of the 
Norwegian domiciled Pareto Likviditet Fund. At as 31st December 2021, Pareto Nordic Omega held 
19,724 shares in the Pareto Likviditet Fund (2020: 34,608).  
 
During the financial year, AIFM fees of NOK24,153,113 (2020: NOK18,689,847) were earned by 
Pareto Asset Management AS, of which NOK6,032,801 remains payable at 31st December 2021 (2020: 
NOK4,315,591). Pareto Asset Management AS also earned performance fees of NOK75,806,212 (2020: 
NOK59,431,233), of which NOK69,516,038 remains payable at 31st December 2021 (2020: 
NOK59,301,975).  
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15.  DIVIDEND POLICY 

 

The Directors may decide to declare a dividend. No dividends were declared or paid to Shareholders 
during the financial year (2020: NOKNil). 

 

16.  NAV HISTORY 

 

Pareto Total 

 2021  2020  2019 

Founder Class – EUR Share      
NAV EUR372,241,485  EUR297,605,974  EUR243,320,415 
Number of shares 1,448,481.19  1,542,237.73  1,449,346.24 
NAV per share EUR256.99  EUR192.97  EUR167.88 
      

Institutional Class A – NOK Share      
NAV NOK59,520,068  NOK91,044,743  NOK76,906,699 
Number of shares 525,899.86  417,837.14  417,837.14 
NAV per share NOK113.18  NOK217.90  NOK184.06 
      

Institutional Class B – NOK Share      
NAV NOK1,365,652,562  NOK913,917,091  NOK673,577,410 
Number of shares 5,173,033.21  4,246,556.96  3,697,138.13 
NAV per share NOK263.99  NOK215.21  NOK182.19 
      

Institutional Class I – NOK Share      
NAV NOK1,231,796,367  NOK631,216,801  NOK475,343,058 
Number of shares 5,798,129.64  3,660,617.23  3,270,594.12 
NAV per share NOK212.45  NOK172.43  NOK145.34 

 

Pareto Nordic Omega  
      

Class B – NOK Share      
NAV NOK83,336,397  NOK84,549,764  NOK78,849,442 
Number of shares 217,667.17  234,646.06  261,790.80 
NAV per share NOK382.87  NOK360.33  NOK301.19 
      

Class I – NOK Share      
Dealing NAV NOK141,498,254  NOK470,519,711  NOK409,338,011 
Number of shares 1,028,745.21  3,651,002.08  3,817,314.24 
NAV per share NOK137.55  NOK128.88  NOK107.23 

      

Class M – NOK Share      

Dealing NAV NOK7,676,196  NOK7,109,719  NOK5,896,492 
Number of shares 33,377.98  33,678.57  35,171.06 
NAV per share NOK229.98  NOK211.11  NOK167.65 
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17. EXCHANGE RATES USED IN THIS REPORT 
 

The following exchange rates were used to translate assets and liabilities into one NOK: 
 

 2021  2020 

Australian Dollar 0.155973  0.151358 
British Pound 0.083725  0.085443 
Danish Krone 0.741668  0.710527 
Euro 0.099719  0.095456 
South Korean Won 134.804894  126.875303 
Swedish Krona 1.026712  0.959192 
Swiss Franc 0.103325  0.103242 
United States Dollar 0.113401  0.116796 
 

18. SOFT COMMISSION ARRANGEMENTS 
 

The Company does not have any soft commission arrangements (2020: None). 
 

19. TAXATION  
 

Under current Irish law and practice the Company qualifies as an investment undertaking under Section 
739B of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997 and is not therefore chargeable to Irish tax on its relevant 
income or relevant gains. No stamp, transfer or registration tax is payable in Ireland on the issue, 
redemption or transfer of shares in the Company. Capital gains, distributions and interest on securities 
issued in countries other than Ireland may be subject to taxes including withholding taxes imposed by 
such countries. The Company may not be able to benefit from a reduction in the rate of withholding tax 
by virtue of the double taxation agreement in operation between Ireland and other countries. The 
Company may not, therefore, be able to reclaim withholding tax suffered by it in particular countries. To 
the extent that a chargeable event arises in respect of a Shareholder, the Company may be required to 
deduct tax in connection with that chargeable event and pay the tax to the Irish Revenue Commissioners. 
A chargeable event can include dividend payments to Shareholders, appropriation, cancellation, 
redemption, repurchase or transfer of shares, or a deemed disposal of shares every 8 years beginning 
from the date of acquisition of those shares. Certain exemptions can apply. To the extent that 
Shareholders have appropriate tax declarations in place with the Company there may be no requirement 
to deduct tax. 
 

20. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 

Updated supplements to the Prospectus for both Sub-Funds dated 9th March 2021 were issued to reflect 
the EU Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (“SFDR”) updates.  
 

A further update of the Pareto Total supplement dated 29th March 2021 was issued for the re-launch of 
Institutional Class A Share Class and for the reduction of redemption and exchange notice period from 
the 80th to the 15th day prior to the relevant Dealing Day for all classes. 
 

A further update to the supplement of the Sub-Funds dated 15th December 2021 was issued to reflect the 
Taxonomy disclosure updates. 
 

There were no other significant events during the financial year, which require disclosures in the 
financial statements. 
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21. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 

 

On 24th February 2022, Russia invaded Ukraine. The invasion has been met with strong economic 
sanctions against Russia from the United States and a number of other countries. The situation has led to 
very high oil and gas prices and turmoil in the capital markets. The political and economic consequences 
of the invasion and sanctions adopted are considered uncertain. Whereas Russia and Ukraine constitute a 
very limited part of the global economy, the economic sanctions may have a noticeable impact on the 
global economic development. Although the total assets in the Sub-funds may fluctuate more than 
normal, the invasion in the short term will not have an impact on continued operations or lead to 
significant write-downs in 2022. 
 
There were no other events subsequent to the financial year end, which require disclosures in the 
financial statements. 
 

22.  APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue, on behalf of the Board of Directors on 
27th April 2022. 
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  Fair  

Nominal   Value  % of 

 Holding NOK NAV 

Variable Rate Bonds 

Norway 

Dolphin Drilling A/S FRN Perp 9,318,182  -  - 

- - 

 

Total Variable Rate Bonds - - 

      

Corporate Debt  

      

Norway      

Dolphin Drilling A/S FRN Perp  96,205  -  - 

Dolphin Drilling A/S 0% Perp 95,966  -  - 

Dolphin Drilling A/S 0% Perp 100,253  -  - 

   -  - 

      

Total Corporate Debt   -  - 

      

Total Debt Securities - - 
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

(continued)  Fair  

 Nominal   Value   % of  

  Holding  NOK  NAV  

Equity Securities Long 

Australia      

Sonic Healthcare Ltd 700,000  209,272,903  3.27 

   209,272,903  3.27 

Denmark 

Novo-Nordisk B 328,000 325,051,145 5.09 

325,051,145 5.09 

France 

Michelin (CGDE) 130,822 189,111,752  2.96 

189,111,752  2.96 

Germany 

BMW AG 527,232 387,550,966  6.07 

387,550,966  6.07 

South Korea 

Samsung Electronics 225,000  118,838,415  1.86 

118,838,415  1.86 

Sweden 

SKF AB-B       770,206      160,911,013  2.52 

160,911,013  2.52 

Switzerland  

Nestle SA 354,500  437,237,104 6.84 

Roche Holdings AG    159,150  583,922,801 9.14 

1,021,159,905 15.98 

United Kingdom   

Howden Joinery Group Plc       1,876,122  201,942,812 3.16 

Next Plc        308,081  299,894,613 4.69 

501,837,425 7.85 

United States  

Adobe Systems Inc 41,439  207,215,939  3.24 

Alphabet Inc C 13,000  331,715,087  5.19 

Amerco  21,750    139,289,482   2.18 

BlackRock Inc 34,689  280,067,986  4.38 

Cisco Systems Inc   460,277    257,210,005   4.03 

Cummins Inc 72,429  139,326,162  2.18 

Deere & Co 164,047  496,030,053  7.76 
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

(continued)  Fair  

 Nominal   Value   % of  

  Holding  NOK  NAV  

Equity Securities Long (continued) 

United States (continued) 

Meta Platforms Inc 95,000  281,773,350  4.41 

Parker Hannifin Corp    101,638  285,122,809  4.46 

TWDC Enterprises Ltd 351,300  479,828,906  7.51 

UnitedHealth Group Inc 55,854  247,322,698  3.87 

Wells Fargo & Co       795,268   336,479,514  5.27 

3,481,381,991 54.48 

Total Equity Securities Long 6,395,115,515 100.08 

 

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6,395,115,515 100.08 

 

 
Investments are in transferable securities admitted to official stock exchange listings  
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  Fair  

Nominal   Value  % of 

 Holding NOK NAV 

Collective Investment Scheme 

Norway 

Pareto Likviditet Fund 19,724  19,574,513  8.42 

19,574,513  8.42 

      

Total Collective Investment Scheme 19,574,513 8.42 
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Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss (continued)   Fair   

 Nominal   Value   % of  

  Holding  NOK  NAV  

Equity Securities Long 

Denmark      
NKT A/S 8,000  3,404,219  1.46 
Rockwool Intl 1,400  5,398,643  2.32 
Topdanmark  13,182  6,522,857  2.81 

   15,325,719  6.59 

Finland 

Anora Group OYJ 82,273  8,960,046  3.85 
Konecranes OYJ 16,000  5,641,465  2.43 
Nordhealth A/S 150,800  6,032,000  2.60 
Sampo OYJ 22,000  9,720,537  4.18 
Spinnova OYJ 29,000  3,905,684  1.68 
Stora Enso 63,500  10,277,804  4.42 
Valmet Corp  20,000  7,565,276  3.25 

   52,102,812  22.41 

Norway 

CSAM Health Group 77,272  6,645,392  2.86 
Elliptic Laboratories A/S  200,000  5,550,000  2.39 
Multiconsult A/S 43,510  6,787,560  2.92 
Nordic Semiconductor ASA 27,216  8,099,482  3.48 
Orkla ASA 67,000  5,920,120  2.55 
Scatec Solar ASA 63,400  9,684,350  4.16 
Skandiabanken ASA 151,097  14,157,789  6.09 
Sparebanken Vest 110,000  11,022,000  4.74 
Storebrand ASA  111,000  9,825,720  4.22 
Telenor ASA 40,400  5,599,440  2.41 

   83,291,853  35.82 

Sweden      
Academedia AB 47,703  2,578,637  1.11 
AFRY AB 24,460  6,075,027  2.62 
Alfa Laval AB 20,000  7,098,391  3.05 
Attendo AB 90,662  3,399,677  1.46 
Coor Service Management AB 104,797  8,436,130  3.63 
Essity AB 35,000  10,070,015  4.33 
Q-linea AB 78,000  8,584,690  3.69 
Securitas AB 46,000  5,584,724  2.40 
SKF AB 13,500  2,820,413  1.21 
Svenska Handelsbanken AB         96,000     9,150,146   3.94 

63,797,850 27.44 
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Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss (continued)   Fair   

 Nominal   Value   % of  

  Holding  NOK  NAV  

Equity Securities Long (continued) 

      

Switzerland      

ABB Ltd 20,000  6,728,278  2.89 

   6,728,278  2.89 

Total Equity Securities Long   
         

221,246,512   95.15 

      

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     221,246,512   95.15 

     

     

Financial liabilities at fair value through  

profit or loss     

    

Equity Securities Sold Short 

Finland      

UPM-Kymmene Group (27,560)  (9,247,583)  (3.98) 

   (9,247,583)  (3.98) 

Norway 

DNB ASA  (63,572)  (12,841,544)  (5.52) 

(12,841,544) (5.52) 

Sweden 

ForeningsSparbanken AB (87,000)  (10,664,096)  (4.58) 

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (34,000)  (6,030,321)  (2.60) 

   (16,694,417)  (7.18) 

      

Total Equity Securities Sold Short (38,783,544) (16.68) 

    

Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (38,783,544) (16.68) 

 
Investments are in transferable securities admitted to official stock exchange listings  
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  Fair  

Nominal   Value  % of 

 Holding NOK NAV 

Variable Rate Bonds 

Norway 

Dolphin Drilling A/S FRN Perp 9,318,182  -  - 

E Forland FRN 30-Jun-21 10,990,479  6,044,763  0.13 

6,044,763 0.13 

 

Total Variable Rate Bonds 6,044,763 0.13 

      

      

Corporate Debt  

      

Norway      

Dolphin Drilling A/S FRN Perp  96,205  -  - 

Dolphin Drilling A/S 0% Perp 95,966  -  - 

Dolphin Drilling A/S 0% Perp 100,253  -  - 

   -  - 

      

Total Corporate Debt   -  - 

      

Total Debt Securities 6,044,763 0.13 
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

(continued)  Fair  

 Nominal   Value   % of  

  Holding  NOK  NAV  

Equity Securities Long 

Australia      

Sonic Healthcare Ltd 350,000  74,343,590  1.56 

   74,343,590  1.56 

Denmark 

Novo-Nordisk B 405,940 243,754,574 5.13 

243,754,574 5.13 

France 

Michelin (CGDE) 168,767 185,552,354  3.90 

185,552,354  3.90 

Germany 

BMW AG 516,232 298,524,854  6.28 

298,524,854  6.28 

South Korea 

Samsung Electronics 225,000  130,521,856  2.75 

130,521,856  2.75 

Sweden 

SKF AB-A        92,503   20,637,840  0.43 

SKF AB-B       837,934      186,422,741  3.92 

207,060,581  4.35 

Switzerland  

Nestle SA 348,600  352,038,436  7.40 

Roche Holdings AG    153,100  458,224,862  9.64 

810,263,298  17.04 

United Kingdom  

Howden Joinery Group Plc       1,235,626      99,725,688  2.10 

Signature Aviation Plc        2,363,008     107,028,368  2.25 

   206,754,056  4.35 

United States 

Adobe Systems Inc 31,000  132,742,079  2.79 

Alphabet Inc C 11,000  164,994,603  3.47 

Amerco  21,750    84,537,529    1.78 

BlackRock Inc 44,667  275,943,327  5.80 

Cisco Systems Inc   568,761    217,919,226    4.58 

Cummins Inc 89,534  174,091,602  3.66 
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

(continued)  Fair  

 Nominal   Value   % of  

  Holding  NOK  NAV  

Equity Securities Long (continued) 

United States (continued) 

Deere & Co 165,047  380,201,067            8.00  

Parker Hannifin Corp       130,803  305,079,798            6.42  

TWC Enterprises Ltd 352,600  546,972,212          11.52  

UnitedHealth Group Inc 60,000  180,150,283            3.79  

Wells Fargo & Co        782,768   202,266,984            4.25  

2,664,898,710         56.06  

    

Total Equity Securities Long 4,821,673,873 101.42 

 

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4,827,718,636 101.55 

 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss     

     

Equity Securities Sold Short 

Germany 

Volkswagen AG (17,000)  (27,144,845)  (0.57) 

(27,144,845) (0.57) 

Sweden 

Hennes & Mauritz AB (150,000)  (26,897,652)  (0.57) 

   (26,897,652)  (0.57) 

      

Total Equity Securities Sold Short (54,042,497) (1.14) 

 

Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (54,042,497) (1.14) 

 
Investments are in transferable securities admitted to official stock exchange listings  
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  Fair  

Nominal   Value  % of 

 Holding NOK NAV 

Collective Investment Scheme 

Norway 

Pareto Likviditet Fund 34,608  34,451,624  6.13 

34,451,624  6.13 

      

Total Collective Investment Scheme 34,451,624  6.13 
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

(continued)  Fair  

 Nominal   Value   % of  

  Holding  NOK  NAV  

Equity Securities Long 

Denmark      
Rockwool Intl 3,000  9,618,208            1.71  

   9,618,208            1.71  

Finland                 

Altia Inc           75,000  7,841,304            1.40  
Kesko                112,000  24,686,541            4.39  
Valmet Corp        120,000    29,366,391            5.22  

   61,894,236           11.01  

Norway                 
Arcus ASA     540,000  23,220,000            4.13  
Atea ASA     107,000  12,968,400            2.31  
Elliptic Laboratories A/S        20,000   2,520,000            0.45  
Europris ASA    265,626  13,573,488            2.41  
Nordic Semiconductor ASA 300,000  41,400,000            7.36  
Norwegian Finans Holdings ASA        200,000  14,630,000            2.60  
Orkla ASA 140,000  12,180,000            2.17  
Scatec Solar ASA    140,000  47,796,000            8.50  
Skandiabanken ASA    172,555  11,889,040            2.11  
Sparebank 1 SMN      110,000    7,964,000            1.42  
Storebrand ASA        280,000      17,976,000            3.20  

   206,116,928           36.66  

Sweden                       
Academedia AB        283,703   25,140,709             4.47  
Clas Ohlson AB          60,000      4,904,130             0.87  
Coor Service Management AB         265,000      20,002,261            3.56  
Q-linea AB       78,000       13,824,142             2.46  
Svenska Handelsbanken AB         96,000     8,266,962             1.47  
TF Bank AB         42,607       3,855,630            0.69  

75,993,834 13.52  

Total Equity Securities Long 
         

353,623,206         62.90  

                 

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 388,074,830 69.03 
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Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss   Fair  

 Nominal   Value   % of  

  Holding  NOK  NAV  

Equity Securities Sold Short 

Finland      

UPM-Kymmene Group (80,560)  (25,715,111)  (4.57) 

   (25,715,111)  (4.57) 

Norway 

DNB ASA  (102,572)  (17,232,096)  (3.06) 

(17,232,096) (3.06) 

Sweden 

ForeningsSparbanken AB (34,000)  (5,108,552)  (0.91) 

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (107,000)  (9,426,167)  (1.68) 

   (14,534,719)  (2.59) 

      

Total Equity Securities Sold Short (57,481,926) (10.22) 

 

Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (57,481,926) (10.22) 

 
Investments are in transferable securities admitted to official stock exchange listings  
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Remuneration Policy and Procedures 

On 16th December 2014, Pareto Nordic Investments AS was appointed the Alternative Investment 
Fund Manager (the “AIFM”) to the Company under the AIFM Directive. Pareto Nordic Investments 
AS was later merged into Pareto Asset Management AS. The AIFM is authorised pursuant to the 
Norwegian AIFMD regulations. 
 
The remuneration committee of the AIFM has ultimate responsibility for the design and oversight of 
the remuneration arrangements. The AIFM has implemented a remuneration policy (“the Policy”), 
which is effective as of January 2015. 
 
The objective of the Policy is to set remuneration at a level that the AIFM’s staff are fairly and 
responsibly rewarded, in a manner that is appropriately linked to their performance. The policy is also 
designed to attract, motivate and retain talent. The Policy includes all forms of ‘variable’ and ‘fixed’ 
remuneration and applies to staff of the AIFM. 
 
The Company’s remuneration policy is regulated by the following legislation: 
Implementation of AIFMD in Norwegian law:  
1) Lov 20. juni 2014 om alternative investeringsfond §§ 1-2 (d) 3-6 (AIF-loven) 
2) Forskrift 26. juni 2014 til lov om alternative investeringsfond kapittel 4 (AIF-forskriften) 
Implementation of UCITS V in Norwegian law:  
1) Lov 25. november 2011 om verdipapirfond § 2-16 (verdipapirfondloven) 
2) Forskrift 21. desember 2011 til lov om verdipapirfond kapittel XI (verdipapirfondforskriften) 
Norwegian Regulator Circular: Finanstilsynets Rundskriv 15/2014 om godtgjørelsesordninger  
Guidelines on remuneration policies and practices (MiFID) (ESMA/2013/606) 
Guidelines on sound remuneration policies under the AIFMD (ESMA/2013/232) 
Questions and Answers - Application of the AIFMD (ESMA/2015/1873) 
 
The AIFM has adopted a remuneration policy which is consistent with and promotes sound and 
effective risk management and does not encourage risk-taking which is inconsistent with the risk 
profiles, rules or instruments of incorporation of the Alternative Investment Fund’s (“AIFs”) that are 
managed. The remuneration policy is in line with the business strategy, objectives, values and interests 
of the AIFM and the AIFs it manages, and includes measures to avoid conflicts of interest. 
 
The remuneration policy includes special remuneration rules for identified staff (senior management, 
risk takers and staff engaged in control functions).  
 
Where remuneration is performance related, the total amount of remuneration is based on a 
combination of the assessment of the performance of the individual and of the business unit or AIF 
concerned and of the overall results of the AIFM, and when assessing individual performance, 
financial as well as non-financial criteria are taken into account. 
 
Where remuneration is performance related, 50% of the remuneration is deferred over a period of at 
least three years. The variable remuneration, including the deferred portion, is paid only if it is 
sustainable according to the financial situation of the AIFM as a whole, and justified according to the 
performance of the business unit, the AIF and the individual concerned.  
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Remuneration Policy and Procedures (continued) 

Staff engaged in control functions are compensated in accordance with the achievement of the 
objectives linked to their functions, independent of the performance of the business areas they control. 
 
The remuneration committee of the AIFM will review the Policy annually or more frequently if 
required. The Policy is in line with the business strategy and objectives of the AIFM. The AIFM’s 
income is dependent upon assets under management and therefore the profit available for distribution 
under the Policy is dependent upon the performance of the Company. 
 
Please see below for the total remuneration paid for the entire Company: 
Total fixed – NOK30,699,686 (2020: NOK35,525,177) 
Total variable – NOK84,843,531 (2020: NOK97,584,457) 
Total number – 53 (2020: 72) 
 
Please see below for the total remuneration paid by key personnel: 
Total fixed – NOK5,739,129 (2020: NOK6,908,392) 
Total variable – NOK21,075,754 (2020: NOK20,662,907) 
Total number – 7 (2020: 10) 
 
Further details on the AIFM’s remuneration policy is available on paretoam.com. 
 

Leverage 

The table below shows the maximum leverage of the Company throughout each financial year: 
 

 Gross Notional Method Commitment Method 

2021 105% 107% 

2020 102% 107% 
 



Pareto Asset Management AS
Org. no.: 977 287 677 

Dronning Mauds gate 3
0250 Oslo

P.O Box 1810, Vika
NO-0123 Oslo, Norway

t: 22 87 87 00
f: 22 01 58 50
e: post@paretoam.com

www.paretoam.com
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